# ENVIRONMENTAL ARCHAEOLOGY BIBLIOGRAPHY

Elizabeth Pearson, Emily Beales and Suzi Richer

February 1996 Revised April 2011 Revised February 2014







© Worcestershire County Council

Worcestershire Archaeology Archive and Archaeology Service The Hive, Sawmill Walk, The Butts, Worcester WR1 3PB

Status: Version 2

Date: 11<sup>th</sup> March 2014

Author: Liz Pearson

lpearson@worcestershire.gov.uk

Contributors: Emily Beales and Suzi Richer

Report 438

reference: HER reference:

# **Contents**

Contents	
Introduction	
Key	
References	2
METHODOLOGICAL	2
AVON/SEVERN VALLEYS	2
BEDFORDSHIRE	2
BIRMINGHAM	2
BRISTOL	3
CHESHIRE	4
DEVON	4
DORSET	5
ESSEX	5
GLOUCESTERSHIRE	
GREATER MANCHESTER	
HAMPSHIRE	7
HEREFORDSHIRE - general	
HEREFORDSHIRE - site specific	
HERTFORDSHIRE	
LONDON	
NORTHAMPTONSHIRE	16
OXFORDSHIRE	
SANDWELL MBC	17
SHROPSHIRE - general	
SHROPSHIRE - site specific	
SOMERSET	
STAFFORDSHIRE	
SUSSEX	
TEME VALLEY	
WALES – GWENT	
WALES - MID-GLAMORGAN	
WALES - SOUTH-GLAMORGAN	
WALES - POWYS	
WARWICKSHIRE	
WEST MIDLANDS	
WILTSHIRE	
WORCESTERSHIRE - general	
WORCESTERSHIRE - site specific	27

# Introduction

This is a bibliography of reports on environmental archaeology work carried out by Worcestershire Archaeology (grey literature and published reports). Former service names are Worcestershire Historic Environment and Archaeology Service (Nov 2004 to March 2011), Worcestershire County Archaeological Service (1997 to November 2004) and Hereford and Worcester Archaeology Service (up to 1997).

For some reports which contain more than one category of environmental remains, the categories of environmental report are included in brackets after the reference.

# Key

Key sites/reports

Smaller sites, interest assemblages or from important feature

# References

#### **METHODOLOGICAL**

Pearson, E, 2013 *Toolkit for rapid assessment of small wetland sites*, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1982** 

#### **AVON/SEVERN VALLEYS**

Jackson, R, Mann, A, and Roberts, T, 2011 Evaluating and enhancing the Geoarchaeological resource of the lower Severn Valley, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1819** (Environmental analysis E, Pearson)

# **BEDFORDSHIRE**

#### Shefford

Clapham, A, 2012 Charred plant remains and charcoal from Stanford Road, Shefford, Bedfordshire, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1944** 

# **BIRMINGHAM**

Daffern, N, and Clapham, A, 2012 *Analysis of environmental remains from 45 College Road, Perry Bar, Birmingham, West Midlands*, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1888** (pollen and plant macrofossil analysis)

Daffern, N, and Clapham, A, 2013 Assessment of environmental remains from land to the north of Brays Road, Sheldon Heath, Birmingham, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1992** (pollen and plant macrofossils)

Daffern, N, and Watson, N, 2012 Borehole survey and assessment of environmental remains at Warwickshire County Cricket Ground, Edgbaston Road, Birmingham, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1955** (geoarchaeology and wood)

Dalwood, H, Griffin, S, Head, K, Hurst, D, Mann, A, and Woodiwiss, S, 2008 Longbridge before Austin: Archaeological investigations at Longbridge, King's Norton, Birmingham, *Trans Birmingham and Warwickshire Arch Soc*, **112** (Geoarchaeology, pollen and plant macrofossil analysis)

Pearson, E, 2008 Analysis of charcoal from Bournville Lane/Woodbrooke Road, Birmingham, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service, internal report internal report, **1667** 

Tetlow, E, Geary, B, Halstead, J and Howard, J, 2008 Palaeoenvironmental evidence for Holocene landscape change and human activity at Thameside, Aldridge Road, Perry Barr, *Birmingham*, *Trans Birmingham and Warwickshire Arch Soc*, **112** 

Webster, J, 2010 *Archaeological excavation at 25-31 Carr's Lane, Birmingham,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1740** (Macrofossil analysis – A Clapham, Pollen analysis - N Daffern)

# **BRISTOL**

Head, K, 2004 Environmental remains from 118-122 Jacob Street, Bristol, Avon, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1288** 

Head, K, 2007 Assessment of pollen remains from Broadmead, Bristol, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1510** 

Head, K, and Mann, A, 2005 *Environmental remains from an excavation at 22-30 West Street, Old Market, Bristol,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1322** 

Head, K, and Wilkinson, K, 2006 *Environmental remains from Cabot House, Deanery Road, Bristol,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1440** 

Mann, A, 2005 Environmental remains from Johnny Ball Lane, Bristol, Avon, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1314** 

Mann, A, 2005 Environmental remains from an excavation at Highwood House, Bristol, Avon, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1356

Mann, A, 2006 Environmental remains from Priory Hospital, Heath House Lane, Bristol, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1400** 

Mann, A, and Pearson, E, 2006 Assessment of environmental remains from Bristol Bus Station, Bristol, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1401** 

Pearson, E, 2006 Assessment of environmental remains from the Old Council House, Corn Street, Bristol, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1447** 

Pearson, E, 2006 Environmental remains from an evaluation at Mary-Le-Port, Bristol, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1467** (Grains of paradise and peppercorn id'd from late med/early post-med cess pit)

Pearson, E, 2006 *Analysis of timbers from Priory Hospital, Heath House Lane, Bristol,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1474** 

Pearson, E, 2006 Assessment of environmental remains from Victoria Street, Bristol, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1490** 

Pearson, E, 2013 Analysis of environmental remains from 1 Victoria Street, Bristol, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **2084** (plant remains, animal and fish bone)

Pearson, E, 2007 Plant remains and marine molluscs from the Old Council House, Corn Street, Bristol, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1522** 

Pearson, E, 2007 Environmental remains from an excavation at Bristol bus station, Bristol, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1556** 

Pearson, E, 2012 Environmental remains from an evaluation at Avonmouth Docks, Bristol, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1933** (plant remains)

Pearson, E, 2013 *Analysis of environmental remains from 1 Victoria Street, Bristol*, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **2084** (animal bone – Lorrain Higby, plant remains, mollusc shell)

Pearson, E, and Head, K, 2007 *Environmental remains from an excavation at Portwall Lane, Bristol,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1483** 

Clapham, A, 2010 Assessment of environmental remains from Concorde Lodge, Bristol, Avon, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1805

#### CHESHIRE

Pearson, E, 2001 Environmental remains from a watching brief at Dee House, Chester, Cheshire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **895** 

Pearson, E, 2001 *Environmental remains from Middlewich, Site 1, Cheshire,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **884** (Rich deposit charred oat – chaff dominated, in area associated with salt production)

#### **DEVON**

Clapham, A, 2011 An assessment of environmental remains from Court Farm, Cullompton, Devon, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1823** (plant macros, charcoal)

Clapham, A, 2011 *Environmental remains from Oaklands, Cowick Lane, Exeter, Devon*, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1859** 

Daffern, N, 2009 Pollen analysis of palaeochannel deposits from land South of Exeter Road, Wellparks Farm, Crediton, Devon, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1720** 

# **DORSET**

Clapham, A, 2011 The charred plant remains and charcoal from Barton Hill School, Shaftesbury, Dorset, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1879** 

#### **ESSEX**

Clapham, A, 2010 Assessment of environmental remains from Ripple Road, Barking (OEW 09), WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1772

Clapham, A, 2013 Assessment and analysis of environmental remains from Poole Harbour, Dorset, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **2017** (waterlogged seeds, fruit, wood and charcoal)

#### **GLOUCESTERSHIRE**

#### Ashchurch

Mann, A, and Head, K, 2006 *Environmental remains from Ashchurch, Gloucestershire*, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1441** 

# Bourton-on-the-Water

Mann, A, 2005 Assessment of the environmental remains from Bourton-on-the-Water primary school, Gloucestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1333** 

Pearson, E, 2005 Environmental remains from excavations at Bourton-on-the-Water primary school, Gloucestershire (publication text), WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1358** 

#### **Brockworth**

Pearson, E, 2006 Environmental remains from a Roman burial at Gloucester Business Park, Brockworth, Gloucestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1502** 

#### Churchend

Lee, A, and Rogers, T, 2008 Archaeological watching brief at Eastington Primary School, Churchend, Gloucestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1624** (environmental analysis A, Clapham)

#### Dymock

Clapham, A, 2010 An assessment of environmental remains from Kyrleside, Dymock, Gloucestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1756

# **Emersons Green**

Clapham, A, 2011 Assessment of environmental remains from Bristol and Bath Science Park, Emersons Green, Gloucestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1815** 

Clapham, A 2012 Further assessment and analysis of environmental remains from Bristol and Bath Science Park, Emersons Green, Gloucestershire, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1908** 

# Forest of Dean

Head, K, Mann, A, and Terra Nova Ltd, 2005 Assessment of the potential for palaeoenvironmental study in Flaxley Valley, Forest of Dean, Gloucestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1323** 

Pearson, E, Daffern, N and Wilkinson, K, 2012 *Palaeoenvironmental Assessment of Cannop Brook, Forest of Dean,* Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1925** (geoarchaeology and pollen)

# Frampton on Severn

Clapham, A, 2007 Environmental remains from Netherhills Quarry, Frampton on Severn, Gloucestershire: An Assessment, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report t, **1589** 

Clapham, A, 2008 Environmental remains from Netherhills Quarry, Frampton on Severn, Gloucestershire: Full Analysis, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1590** 

#### Gloucester

Clapham, A, 2013 *Environmental remains from Commercial Road, Gloucester, Gloucester*, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1995** (plant macrofossils)

#### Lydney

Clapham, A and Daffern, N, 2011 Assessment of a wood fragment from drainage improvement works, Lydney, Gloucestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1814** 

#### Tewkesbury

Miller, D, Jones, L, and Pearson, E, 2001 (revised 2004), *Archaeological watching brief at 40/41 High Street, Tewkesbury,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, 929 (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Pearson, E, 2002 Environmental results, in Patrick, C, *An archaeological evaluation at 15-16 Barton Street, Tewkesbury, Gloucestershire*, Worcestershire CC, Archaeological Service, internal report, **969** 

Pearson, E, and Smith, D, 2007 Environmental remains from a watching brief at Tewkesbury Abbey Meadow, Gloucestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1519** 

#### Stonehouse

Vaughan, T, Darch, E, and Pearson, E, 2003, *Archaeological recording at Stonehouse Wharf, Boakes Drive, Stonehouse, Gloucestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **993** 

#### Uckington

Pearson, E, 2005 Environmental remains from Tewksbury Road, Uckington, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1361** 

Daffern, N, and Clapham, A, 2013 Assessment of environmental remains from Uckington Fire Station, Tewkesbury Road, Uckington, Gloucestershire, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1990** (plant macrofossils and pollen)

#### Winchcombe

Clapham, A, 2008 An assessment of the environmental remains from Winchcombe, Gloucestershire GSMR 30058, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1652** 

# **GREATER MANCHESTER**

Head, K, 2005 *Pollen remains from Bury caravan park, Walmersley, Greater Manchester,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1342** 

Head, K, 2006 Pollen remains from Burrs Caravan Park, Bury Walmersley, Greater Manchester, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1432** 

#### **HAMPSHIRE**

Clapham, A, 2009 *Environmental remains from Oakhanger, Bordon, East Hampshire,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1725** 

Pearson, E, 2001 Environmental remains from an evaluation at the Plaza Garage, Winchester Road, Romsey, Hampshire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **907** 

Vaughan, T, and Sworn, S, 2008 Archaeological watching brief of the Bramley-Basingstoke electricity cable route, Hampshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1599** (environmental analysis A Clapham)

#### **HEREFORDSHIRE** - general

Jackson, R, and Sworn, S, 2013 *Investigations along the route of the Rotherwas Access Road, Herefordshire*, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1968** (animal bone – Sylvia Warman, human remains – Gaynor Western, plant macros, wood and charcoal – Elizabeth Pearson, pollen – Katie Head and Nick Daffern, geoarchaeology – Keith Wilkinson and Nick Watson)

Patrick, C, Griffin, L, Mann, A, and Pearson, E, 2002 *Archaeological evaluation of the route of the A4103 Roman Road improvements, Herefordshire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1000** (incl report on environmental remains)

Vaughan, T, 2010 Archaeological investigations along, Roman Road, Hereford 2002-2005, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1730** (osteological analysis G, Western, environmental analysis E, Pearson, K, Head and A, Mann)

# **HEREFORDSHIRE - site specific**

#### Ariconium

See Western-under-Penyard

#### <u>Aymestrey</u>

Woodiwiss, S, 1991 Salvage recording of a Beaker burial from Aymestrey (HWCM 7060), *Trans Woolhope Natur Fld Club*, **96**, 2, 169-76; including skeletal remains (F Lee)

#### Blackwardine

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Blackwardine, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report **300** (includes environmental assessment by E Pearson)

Jack, G H, 1922 Blackwardine, *Trans Woolhope Natur Fld Club*, **19**, 21-23, 54-57; finds catalogue includes animal bones and oyster shells

# Bodenham

Mann, A, 2006 *Mollusc remains from Hill Croft, Bodenham, Herefordshire,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1476** 

# **Bromyard**

Cook, M J, Pearson, E, Ratkai, S, 1994 *Evaluation at land off Ballhurst, Bromyard (HWCM 21663*), HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **272** (env report, E Pearson)

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Bromyard, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep., **304** 

Wichbold, D, 1997 Salvage recording at Bishops garage, new Road, Bromyard (HWCM 25870), HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **580** (comment on bone, E Pearson).

Wichbold, D, 1997 Salvage recording at Bishops Garage, New Road, Bromyard (HWCM 25870), HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **580** (small amount of animal bone recovered)

# **Bullinghope**

Mann, A, and Vaughan, T, 2008 Archaeological evaluation at Bullingham Lane, Bullinghope, Herefordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1632** (bulk sample analysis A, Clapham, pollen analysis N, Daffern, animal bone analysis E, Pearson)

#### Burghill

Jackson, R, Buteux, V, Hurst, D and Pearson, E, 1999 *Evaluation at St Donat's Farm, Burghill, Herefordshire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **723** (includes macrofossil remains report)

#### Dinmore

Clapham, A, 2010 *Environmental remains from Hope Field, Dinmore, Herefordshire,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1810** 

# Eardisley

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Eardisley, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **313** (environmental research potential, E Pearson)

Topping, J N, 1994 Salvage recording at Castle Farm, Eardisley, HWCC County Archaeological Service Internal Rep, **234** (Environmental report, E Pearson)

#### Hereford

Arnold, G, and Webster, J, 2013 Archaeological Investigations at The Former Livestock Market site, Hereford, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **2044** (Environmental report – E Pearson, animal bone and plant macrofossils)

Clapham, A J, 2011 *Environmental remains from Little Doward Hillfort Hereford, Herefordshire*, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1861** (charred plant remains and charcoal)

Daffern, N, 2011 Assessment of environmental remains from a borehole survey at 31 Eign Gate, Hereford, Herefordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1852** (wood identification – Nick Daffern, molluscs – A. Mann, faunal remains – E. Beales, pollen analysis and geoarchaeology)

Hurst, D, Baxter, I, Boylston, A, Pearson, E, and Weston, D, 2003 *Mappa Mundi archive, Hereford: assessment and updated project design*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1136** (incl section on environmental remains and human bone)

Jackson, R J, and Pearson, E, 1996 Auger survey and geophysical assessment at land north of Lugg Bridge, Hereford, HWCC County Archaeological Survey, **462** 

Pearson, E, 1994 Archive preparation of the environmental remains from excavations at Cathedral Close, Hereford, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **224** 

Pearson, E, 1995 Analysis of environmental remains from the former Hartford Motors site, Hereford, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **394** 

Pearson, E, 1996 Palaeoenvironmental reconstruction at the Lugg Meadows, Hereford; Pilot Study, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal Rep, **428** 

Pearson, E, 1996 The environmental remains, in R Stone and N Appleton-Fox, A view from Hereford's past: a report on the excavation of Hereford, Cathedral Close, 1993, Logaston Press

Pearson, E, 1997 Assessment of environmental remains from Aubrey Street, Hereford, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, 606 – C14 dated waterlogged plant remains from King's Ditch

Pearson, E, 1997 Assessment of environmental remains from East Street, Hereford, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **611** 

Pearson, E, 1997 Analysis of environmental remains from 51 Commercial Street, Hereford, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, 612

Pearson, E, 1997 *Analysis of environmental remains from St Martin's Street, Hereford*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **613** 

Pearson, E, 1999 *Environmental remains from a watching brief at 14-19 Bridge Street, Hereford*, WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **753** 

Pearson, E, 2000 Assessment of environmental remains from Lugg Bridge Quarry, Herefordshire (Phase1), WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **830** (includes plant macrofossils; E Pearson, pollen, J Greig)

Pearson, E, 2000 Environmental remains from Harrison Street, Hereford, Herefordshire, WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **854** (incl plant macrofossil remains – E Pearson, pollen – J Greig)

Pearson, E, 2001 Assessment of environmental remains from Lugg Bridge Quarry (Phase 2), WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **891** 

Pearson, E, 2003 Assessment of environmental remains from wet-sieved samples from the former mead and Tompkinson site, 19-22 Bridge Street, Hereford, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1146** 

Pearson, E, 2004 Environmental remains from St Peter's School, Kwik Save and Littern Tree sites, Hereford, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1232** 

Pearson, E, 2007 Environmental remains from a programme of archaeological work at the Crystal Rooms, Bridge Street/Gwynne Street, Hereford, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1564** Samples taken through King's Ditch, still in draft though

Pearson, E, and Head, K, 2006 Assessment of environmental remains from Lugg Bridge Quarry, Herefordshire 2004-2005, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1484** 

de Rouffignac, C, 1990 *The plant remains from Tescos*, 1981, Hereford, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **67** 

de Rouffignac, C, 1990 *The plant remains from the town ditch, Hereford*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **68** 

de Rouffignac, C, 1992 *The plant remains from excavations at 46 Commercial Street, Hereford*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **115** 

de Rouffignac, C, 1993 Assessment of the plant remains from 16-18 High Town, Hereford, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **161** 

de Rouffignac, C, 1993 Assessment of the plant remains from All Saint's Church, Hereford, HWCM 20017, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **201** 

Taylor, G, 1991 *Evaluation at Canal Road, Hereford*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report **77** (environmental remains - C de Rouffignac)

#### **Kenchester**

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Kenchester, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service Internal Rep, **319** (includes environmental assessment by E Pearson)

# Ledbury

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Ledbury, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **323** (includes environmental assessment by E Pearson)

Hurst, J D, and Pearson, E, 1997 *Evaluation at Ledbury Park, Ledbury, Herefordshire*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **562** 

Napthan, M, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1996 Salvage recording to the rear of 26 New Street, Ledbury, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **455** (env rep, E Pearson)

#### **Leintwardine**

Brown, D L, 1991 *Excavations at the Community Centre, Leintwardine*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **79**; reports on animal bone and charred plant remains (C de Rouffignac)

Brown, D L, 1996, The Roman small town at Leintwardine excavations and other fieldwork 1971-1989, in *Trans Woolhope Natur Fld Club*, **68** (3), 510-572 (bones described)

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Leintwardine, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **324** (includes environmental assessment by E Pearson)

Darlington, J, 1989 *Evaluation at Millfield House, Leintwardine*, HWCC County Archaeological Section internal report, **21**; bone IDs (C de Rouffignac)

Dinn, J L, 1988 Salvage recording at 22 High Street, Leintwardine, HWCM 1061, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report; mention of offal pits with bones from 1960s

de Rouffignac, C, 1992 The plant remains from the Community Centre excavation, Leintwardine, *Herefordshire Archaeological News*, **57**, 33-5

Stanford, S C, 1958 Excavations at the Roman Camp of Bravonium (Leintwardine), *Trans Woolhope Natur Fld Club*, **36**, 87-99; description of rampart timbers

#### Leominster

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Leominster, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **325** (environmental assessment, E Pearson)

Buteux, V, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1994 *Watching Brief at the Hop Pole, Leominster*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **290** (waterlogged plant remains & bone – evidence for flax-retting and tanning/hornworking)

Dalwood, H, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1997 Salvage recording at Ivington Camp, Leominster: post-excavation assessment, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **507** (incl animal bone, charred plant & pollen assessment)

Hurst, J D, Pearson, E A, and Ratkai, S, 1996 Excavation at the Buttercross, Leominster, Herefordshire, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, 429

Mann, A, and Pearson, E, 2006 Assessment of the environmental remains from Leominster Priory, Herefordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1411** 

Napthan, M, 1993 Watching Brief at the Greyhound Yard, Leominster, HWCC County Archaeological Service Internal Rep, **203** 

Napthan, M, 1994 Evaluation at Kingdom Hall, Leominster, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **264** (Human bone, S Pinter-Bellows)

Napthan, M, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1994 *Evaluation at Bargates, Leominster*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **287** 

Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, Salvage recording at the Sports Field, Bridge Street, Leominster, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **551** 

Pearson, E, 1997 Evaluation of environmental remains from the Leominster Poultry Packers, Leominster, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **595** 

Pearson, E, Head, K, and Smith, D, 2005 *Environmental remains from an excavation at Mill Street, Leominster, Hereford*, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1341** 

#### Longtown

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Longtown, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **326** (includes environmental assessment by E Pearson)

Taylor, G, and Woodiwiss, S, 1988 Evaluation excavation at land adjacent to the Police Station, Longtown, HWCM 1036, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report **10**; charcoal in hearths, no IDs

# Lower Bullingham

Hemingway, J, 1990 Evaluation at Sevin Close Orchard, Lower Bullingham, HWCM 8521, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **46**; environmental remains (C de Rouffignac)

#### Lyonshall

Pearson, E, 2004 Assessment of environmental remains from an excavation at Moorcroft Farm and Cold Furrow, Lyonshall, Herefordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1235** 

Mann, A, 2006 Assessment of Environmental Remains from an excavation at Cold Furrow, Lyonshall, Herefordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1425** 

Mann, A, 2006 Environmental remains from excavations at Moorcroft Farm and Cold Furrow, Lyonshall, Herefordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1460** 

# Moreton-on-Lugg

Baxter, I, 2003, Hand-collected animal bone, in S Griffin and R Jackson, *Archaeological evaluation at Moreton-on-Lugg, Herefordshire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1145** 

Griffin, S, and Jackson, R, 2003 *Archaeological evaluation at Moreton-on-Lugg, Herefordshire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1142** (environmental analysis, E, Pearson)

Pearson, E, 2003 Plant macrofossil remains, in S Griffin and R Jackson (ibid)

Pearson, E. 2003b Environmental discussion, in S Griffin and R Jackson (ibid)

Mann, A, 2003 Molluscan remains, in S Griffin and R Jackson (ibid)

Greig, J, 2003 Pollen analysis, in S Griffin and R Jackson (ibid)

Smith, D, 2003 Insect analysis, in S Griffin and R Jackson (ibid)

#### Redhill

Webster, J, Rogers, T, and Vaughan, T, 2009 *Archaeological evaluation at Hereford Academy, Stanberrow Road, Redhill, Hereford,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1711** (environmental analysis E, Pearson and N, Daffern, pollen analysis N, Daffern)

Webster, J, 2010 Archaeological excavation at Hereford Academy, Stanberrow Road, Redhill, Hereford, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1724 (environmental analysis E, Pearson, N, Daffern and K, Wilkinson, geoarchaeological analysis K, Wilkinson, macrofossil analysis E, Pearson and pollen analysis N, Daffern)

# Ross-on-Wye

Topping, J, Hurst, D, Pearson, E, 1997 Salvage recording at land to the rear of Leregos, New Street, Ross-on-Wye, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **573** 

#### Rotherwas

Patrick, C, Griffin, L, and Pearson, E, 2002, *Archaeological Evaluation of the route of the Rotherwas access road, Herefordshire,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **986** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Pearson, E, and Daffern, N, 2011 Assessment of environmental remains from an excavation at Rotherwas Ribbon, Rotherwas, Herefordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1816** (macrofossil remains E Pearson, geoarchaeological M Allen and A Richards, pollen N Daffern)

#### Sutton Walls/Sutton St Nicholas

Pearson, E, 2000 Environmental remains from an evaluation at Sutton St Nicholas, Herefordshire, WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **820** (rich charred grain assemblage from early med isled building – building thought to relate to King Offa)

#### Wellington

Brown, D L, 1992 Salvage recording IV at Wellington Quarry, Marden Lane, Wellington, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **119** (plant and animal remains; C de Rouffignac)

Clarke, A, Taylor, G, Woodiwiss, S, 1988 *Evaluation excavation at Marden Quarry, Wellington*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **9** 

Dinn, J, and Roseff, R, 1992 Alluvium and archaeology in the Herefordshire Valleys, in S Needham and M G Macklin (eds), *Alluvial archaeology in Britain*, Oxbow Monograph, **27**, 141-151

Edwards, R E, 1989 Salvage recording at Wellington Quarry, Marden Lane, HWCM 5522, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **27** (Plant remains and bones - C de Rouffignac)

Edwards, R E, 1990 Salvage recording III at Wellington Quarry, Marden Lane, HWCM 5522, HWCC Archaeological Section internal rep, **49** (Environmental remains - C de Rouffignac)

Fagan, L, 1993 Salvage recording V at Wellington Quarry, Marden Lane, Wellington, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **184** 

Greig, J R A, 1990 Fieldwork at Wellington Quarry on June 22 1990, typed manuscript

HWCC County Archaeological Service 1996 Salvage recording VII at Wellington Quarry, Marden Lane, Wellington, HWCM 5522, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **444** 

Jackson, R, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1996 Evaluation at Wellington Quarry, Marden Lane, Wellington, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **503** (incl animal bone, wood, plant remains and alluvium analysis)

Jackson, R, Hurst, D, Jones, L, and Pearson, E, 2000 Evaluation of the proposed environmental recycling area at Wellington Quarry, Wellington, Herefordshire, WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **843** (incl environmental remains – E Pearson)

Jackson, R, and Miller, D, 2004 Wellington Quarry, Herefordshire (1986-96): Investigations of a landscape in the lower Lugg Valley, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1230 (Pollen, J Greig; Geoarchaeology, D Jordan; Plant macrofossil remains, E Pearson; Human remains, D Weston) To be published by Neolithic Studies group

Shelley, D, 1989 Salvage recording at Wellington Quarry, Wellington, HWCM 5522, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **32** (descriptions alluvium; Shelley, animal bones; C de Rouffignac)

Sworn, S, and Jackson, R, 2009 *Archaeological evaluation of land South of Moreton Camp, Wellington Quarry, Marden, Herefordshire,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1647** (environmental analysis A Clapham, pollen analysis N Daffern, animal bone analysis A Crawford, macrofossil analysis E Pearson, cremated bone analysis J McKinley)

# Weobley

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Weobley, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **352** (env assessment, E Pearson)

Wichbold, D, 1994 Watching brief at the Old Barn, Kings Pyon (HWCM 12200), HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **267** (charred plant remains, E Pearson)

#### St Weonards

Dinn, J, and Hancocks, A, 1996 Evaluation of land adjacent to St Weonards Church, St Weonards, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **480** (Animal bone and charred plant remains, E Pearson)

#### Weston-under-Penyard

Bridgewater, N, 1966 Romano-British iron working near Ariconium, *Trans Woolhope Natur Fld Club*, **38**, 124-135; mention of charcoal but no IDs

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Western-under-Penyard, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **353** (includes environmental assessment by E Pearson)

Jackson, R A, Hancocks, A, and Pearson, E, 1996 Salvage recording on the Lea and Weston-under-Penyard Sewage Transfer: archive report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **474** 

Napthan, M, Pearson, E, Ratkai, S, 1995 Evaluation of the proposed Ryeford Bypass (A40), Weston-under-Penyard (stage 2), HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **405** (env report, E Pearson)

Pearson, E, 2000 Environmental evidence, in R Jackson, *The Roman settlement of Ariconium, near Western-under-Penyard, Herefordshire: an assessment and synthesis of the evidence*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **833** 

Pearson, E, 2000 Environment, in R Jackson, *Ariconium, Herefordshire – The Garrod and Moss excavations: archive report*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **838** 

Pearson, E, 2003 Environmental remains from an excavation on land between Upper Weston and Little Weston, Weston-under-Penyard, Herefordshire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1193** 

#### Wigmore

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Wigmore, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **355** (environmental assessment, E Pearson)

#### Withington

Hurst, J D, and Pearson, E, 1994 Salvage recording on the Lugg Bridge to Withington pipeline, Herefordshire, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **280** (environmental report, E Pearson)

# **HERTFORDSHIRE**

Pearson, E, and Greig, J, 2001 Assessment of the potential for environmental archaeological study of the ponds at Grotto Wood, Roxford, Hertfordshire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **931** 

# **LONDON**

Clapham, A, 2009 Environmental remains from 48 Church Street, West Ham, London borough of Newham, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1719** 

Clapham, A, 2010 Assessment of the charred and waterlogged plant remains from Prescot Street, London, E1 (PCO 06), WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1738

## **NORTHAMPTONSHIRE**

Clapham, A, 2011 The charcoal from AWS Thorpe Mandeville to Greatworth pipeline, Northamptonshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1824** 

Pearson, E, 2001 *Environmental remains from Alderton Mount, Northamptonshire,* WCC Archaeology Service internal report, **896** (Plant macrofossils, E Pearson – rich burnt grain deposit, poss. fire destruction deposit)

#### **OXFORDSHIRE**

Clapham, A, 2013 Charred plant remains and charcoal from St Clement's Street car park, Oxford, Oxfordshire, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **2034** (charred plan remains and charcoal)

# **SANDWELL MBC**

Keith-Lucas, F, 2010 Archaeological evaluation at Hall Green Works, West Bromwich, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1769** (environmental analysis E, Pearson)

#### **SHROPSHIRE - general**

Clapham, A, 2011 Charcoal from Ned's Garden, Cindermill and Little Down Bloomery sites, Shropshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1860** 

Mann, A, 2008 Archaeological watching brief along the Trimpley to Hollywaste Trunk Pipeline, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1622** (environmental analysis A, Clapham)

Mann, A, 2009 Archaeological watching brief along the Hollywaste to Trimpley rural trunk pipeline, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1677** (environmental analysis A, Clapham)

# **SHROPSHIRE - site specific**

#### **Acton Burnell**

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Acton Burnell, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **293** (env assessment, E Pearson)

#### Albrighton

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Albrighton, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, 294 (env assessment, E Pearson)

#### Attingham

Napthan, M, 1994 Excavation at Home Farm, Attingham Park, Shropshire, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, 228

#### Atcham

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Atcham, Shropshire, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **296** (includes environmental assessment, E Pearson)

# **Baschurch**

Buteux, V 1995 Archaeological assessment of Baschurch, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, 297 (env assessment E Pearson)

#### **Bishops Castle**

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Baschurch, interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **299** (env assessment, E Pearson)

# Bridgnorth

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Bridgnorth, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **301** (Env assessment, E Pearson)

#### Bromfield

de Rouffignac, C, 1993 *The plant remains from Bromfield, Shropshire: 1991 excavations*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **172** 

#### **Burford**

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Burford, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **305** (env assessment, E Pearson)

#### Caus

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Caus, Shropshire; interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **306** (env assessment, E Pearson)

#### **Church Stretton**

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Church Stretton, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **307** 

# **Cleobury Mortimer**

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Cleobury Mortimer, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **308** (env assessment, E Pearson)

#### Clun

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Clun, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **311** (env assessment, E Pearson)

Pearson, E, 1995 Environmental assessment at Caer Caradoc, Clun, Shropshire, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **392** 

#### Ellesmere

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Ellesmere, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **314** (env assessment, E Pearson)

#### High Ercrall

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of High Ercrall, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **317** (env assessment, E Pearson)

#### Ludlow

Dalwood, H, 1995 *Archaeological assessment of Ludlow, Shropshire: interim report*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **327** (env assessment, E Pearson)

# Lydham

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Lydham, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **328** (env assessment, E Pearson)

# **Market Drayton**

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Market Drayton, Shropshire; interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **330** (env assessment, E Pearson)

#### Much Wenlock

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Much Wenlock, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **331** (env assessment, E Pearson)

Horton M C, 1991 Excavations at Wenlock Priory (Wenlock Abbey), Shropshire, forthcoming; animal bone and waterlogged deposits noted

Pearson, E, 2007 Assessment of environmental remains from High Street, Much Wenlock, Shropshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1545** 

#### Newport

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Newport, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **332** (env assessment, E Pearson)

Wainwright, J, and Lee, A, 2010 Archaeological investigations at Stafford Street, Newport, Shropshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1761 (environmental analysis E, Pearson, pollen analysis N, Daffern – well preserved peaty deposits, probably part of NW Wetlands, bogs & mires)

#### <u>Oswestry</u>

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Oswestry, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **333** (env assessment, E Pearson)

# Pembridge

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Pembridge, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **334** (env assessment, E Pearson)

#### Quatford

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Quatford, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **337** 

#### Redhill

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Redhill, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **339** (includes env assessment, E Pearson)

#### Richard's Castle

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Richard's Castle, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **327** (env assessment, E Pearson)

Shoesmith R, 1988 *Church of St. Bartholomew, Richard's Castle: second interim report*, City of Hereford Arch Unit Internal Rep; undated human bone and burials

# Ruyton-XI-Towns

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Ruyton-XI-Towns, Shropshire, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **342** (env assessment, E Pearson)

# **Shrewsbury**

Pearson, E, and Head, K, 2004 *Environmental remains from St Julian's Friars, Beeches Lane, Shrewsbury, Shropshire,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1244** (Pollen – K Head, Plant macrofossil remains, E Pearson)

de Rouffignac, C, 1992 Assessment of the environmental samples from the evaluation at Oak Street Head, Belle Vue, Shrewsbury, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **155** 

#### Shifnall

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Shifnall, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **343** 

## Stottesdon

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Stottesdon, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **345** (env assessment, E Pearson)

# **Telford**

Mann, A, 2011 Archaeological evaluation and watching brief at Redhill Reservoir, Telford, Shropshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report **1886** (animal bone and plant macrofossil analysis by E Pearson)

# Wellington

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Wellington, Shropshire: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **350** 

#### Wem

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Wem, Shropshire, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **351** (env assessment, E Pearson)

#### Whitchurch

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Whitchurch, Shropshire, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **354** (env assessment, E Pearson)

# Wroxeter

Dalwood, H, and White, R, 1995 *Archaeological assessment of Ludlow, Shropshire: interim report*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **327** (env assessment, R White)

# **SOMERSET**

Head, K, 2004 Environmental remains from Brent Knoll, Somerset, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1297** 

Head, K, 2004 Environmental remains from Cannock's Garage, Keynsham, Avon, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1291** 

Head, K and Mann, A, 2005 *Environmental remains from Uphill Road South, Weston-Super-Mare, Somerset,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1351** 

Clapham, A, 2009 Charcoal from Priddy Circle I, East Harptree, Somerset, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1694** 

Clapham, A, 2009 Environmental remains from Evercreech junction, Shepton Mallet, Somerset, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1712** 

Clapham, A, 2010 Assessment of the environmental remains from Temple Street, Keynsham, Somerset, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1084** 

Clapham, A, 2013 Environmental remains from The Hatcheries, Bathpool, Monkton Heathfield, Somerset, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **2023** (charcoal and charred plant remains)

Mann, A, 2006 Assessment of the environmental remains from Worston Road, Highbridge, Somerset, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1398** 

Pearson, E, and Head, K, 2007 *Environmental remains from an evaluation at Stathe, Somerset Levels, Somerset,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1525** 

Pearson, E, 2013 Assessment of environmental remains from Keynsham Town Hall, Bath and North East Somerset, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **2068** (charred plant remains, mammal and fish bone and oyster shell)

# **STAFFORDSHIRE**

Arnold, G, and Robson-Glyde, S, 2014 *Archaeological investigations at the Churnet Works, Macclesfield Road, Leek, Staffordshire*, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1899** (Environmental analysis – A Clapham, waterlogged plant remains)

Head, K, and Mann, A, 2005 Environmental remains from Coven Heath, Brewood, Staffordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1340

Head, K, 2005 Environmental remains from Tollgate Farm, Rocester, Staffordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1372** 

Head, K, 2007 A palaeoenvironmental assessment for the former Arts Centre, Bird Street, Lichfield, Staffordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1480** 

Head, K, and Wilkinson, K, 2006 Borehole survey at Sideway, Stoke-on-Trent, Staffordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1505

Milward, J, Goad, J, 2005 Archaeological evaluation at Sideway, Stoke-on-Trent, Staffordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1352** (environmental analysis, E, Pearson)

Pearson, E, 2003 Environmental remains from Sandford Street, Lichfield, Staffordshire, WCC Archaeological Service, internal report, **1151** (Charred rye/oats, characteristic of Lichfield sites)

Pearson, E, 2003 Environmental remains from Lawn Farm, Stoke-on-Trent, Staffordshire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1205** 

Pearson, E, 2004 Environmental remains from the Civic Hall, Lichfield, Staffordshire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1222** 

Pearson, E, 2004 Environmental remains from a watching brief at Hill Street, Walsall, West Midlands, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1224** 

Pearson, E (ed) 2005, Environmental evidence, in W D Klemperer and N Boothroyd, *Excavations at Hulton Abbey, Staffordshire* 1987 – 1994, The Society for medieval Archaeology Monograph, **21**, 135-149

Pearson, E, 2006 Environmental remains from Tollgate Farm, Rocester, Staffordshire, Phase 2, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1422** 

Pearson, E, 2006, Environmental evidence, in N Boothroyd, Keeping up the Middle Ages: excavations at Lawn Farm moated site, Staffordshire, Stoke-on-Trent Archaeology Service Monograph, 1, 36-42

Pearson, E, and Allen, P, 2008 Assessment of environmental remains from a watching brief at Lammascote Road, Stafford, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1609** 

Pearson, E, and Head, K, 2009 Assessment of environmental remains from Cross Keys Car Park, Lichfield, Staffordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1699** 

Pearson, E, and Daffern, N, 2009 *Environmental remains from Cross Keys Car Park, Lichfield, Staffordshire,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1707** (Pollen – N Daffern, plant macrofossil remains – E Pearson) Within precincts of Lichfield Cathedral

Pearson, E, and Daffern, N, 2009 Assessment of environmental remains from Carmountside Cemetery, Abbey Hulton, Stoke-on-Trent, Staffordshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1715** 

# **SUSSEX**

#### Eastbourne

Clapham, A, 2012 Waterlogged plant remains from Arkwright Road, Eastbourne, East Sussex, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1912** (plant macrofossils)

# **TEME VALLEY**

Cook, M J, 1997 *Archaeological survey of three areas of the River Teme*, HWCC County Archaeological Service Internal Rep, **542**. Comments on distribution of visible palaeochannels and potential for palaeoenvironmental work.

# **WALES – GWENT**

Clapham, A, 2009 Environmental remains from 9-10 St Mary Street, Chepstow, Gwent, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1721** 

# **WALES - MID-GLAMORGAN**

Daffern, N, 2011 Auger survey and palynological assessment at Bryn-y-Wrach Common, Llangeinor, Bridgend, Wales, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1845** 

# **WALES - SOUTH-GLAMORGAN**

Pearson, E, 2012, *Environmental remains from Castle Field Camp, Pontrennau, near Cardiff*, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1873** (mammal bone, charcoal, charred cereal crop debris)

# WALES - POWYS

Head, K, 2006 *Pollen remains from Domgay Lane, Four Crosses, Powys,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1449** 

Mann, A, and Hurst, D, 2008 Excavation and watching brief at Buttington Cross, Welshpool, Powys, Wales: Assessment Report, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1638** (environmental analysis A, Clapham, pollen analysis N, Daffern)

Mann, A, and Hurst, D, 2009 Buttington Cross, Welshpool, Powys, Wales. A Bronze Age barrow and post Roman grain processing site, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1714** (human bone analysis G, Western, animal bone analysis T, Kausmally, plant macrofossil & charcoal analysis A, Clapham, pollen analysis N, Daffern)

Pearson, E, 2006 Assessment of environmental remains from Domgay Lane, Four Crosses, Powys, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1462

# **WARWICKSHIRE**

Clapham, A, 2010 *Environmental remains from Orchard Retail Park, Coventry,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1775** 

Elgy, C, 2008 Assessment of the burial environment at Brooklyn Garage, Alcester, Warwickshire: A review of the data collected between March and May 2008 WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1628** (ground water testing)

Head, K, and Wilkinson, K, 2005 A palaeoenvironmental assessment at Coventry Transport Museum, Hales Street, Coventry, Warwickshire WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1344** 

Head, K, and Wilkinson, K, 2005 *Environmental remains from Coventry Transport Museum, Hales Street, Coventry, Warwickshire,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1370** 

Head, K, and Wilkinson, K, 2006 A palaeoenvironmental assessment at Far Gosford Street, Coventry, Warwickshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1455** 

Pearson, E, 2002 Assessment of environmental remains from Walton, Warwickshire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **978** 

Pearson, E, 2002 Assessment and analysis of environmental remains from Ling Hall Quarry, Warwickshire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1005** 

Pearson, E, 2004 Environmental remains from Walton, Transco Newbold Pacey (Warwickshire) to Honeybourne (Worcestershire) pipeline, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1300** 

Pearson, E, 2006 Charred plant remains from High Cross, Copston Magna, Warwickshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1404

Pearson, E, 2006 Environmental remains from Alveston Manor Hotel, Stratford-upon-Avon, Warwickshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1461** 

Pearson, E, 2013 *Environmental remains from Church Lane, Middleton, Warwickshire*, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1976** (plant macro remains and charcoal)

Pearson, E, and Mann, A, 2005 Environmental remains from Goldicot DMV, Transco Newbold Pacey (Warwickshire) to Honeybourne (Worcestershire) pipeline, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1304** 

Phear, S, 2007 Archaeological evaluation at St John's Street Car Park, Much Park Street, Coventry, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1583** (environmental analysis A. Clapham)

# **WEST MIDLANDS**

Powell, A B, Booth, P, Fitzpatrick, A P and Crockett, A D, 2008 *The archaeology of the M6 Toll 2000 – 2003*, Oxford Wessex Archaeology Monograph, **2** (Charcoal – R Gale; Charred plant remains – A J Clapham; Charred plant remains – L Gray; pollen – R G Scaife, Mollusca – M J Allen – all various sites)

# **WILTSHIRE**

# Cricklade

Pearson, E, 2007 Environmental remains from an evaluation at Prior Park Preparatory School, Cricklade, Wiltshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1524** 

# **Devizes**

Pearson, E, 2008 Analysis of wood from Caen Hill Flight, Kennet and Avon Canal, Devizes, Wiltshire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1615** 

# Salisbury

Pearson, E, Baxter, I, and Hamilton-Dyer, S, 2002 *Environmental remains from an excavation to the rear of 34 Milford Street/34 Gigant Street, Salisbury, Wiltshire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1131** 

# **WORCESTERSHIRE - general**

Bretherton, J, and Jones, L, 2000 *Archaeological salvage recording along the route of the Henley to Redditch link main*, Worcestershire CC Archaeological Service internal rep, **790** (includes macrofossil remains by E Pearson)

Dalwood, H, Buteux, V, and Pearson, E, 1998 Archaeology on the Astley to Worcester aqueduct, *Trans Worc Arch Soc*, 3<sup>rd</sup> Ser, **16**, 1-35

Dinn, J, and Edwards, R, 1991 *M5 widening (Warndon to Strensham): archaeological evaluation,* HWCC Archaeological Section internal report **65**; plant remains from Crookberrow Hill (C de Rouffignac)

Dinn, J, 1992 *The Blackstone to Astley Aqueduct: salvage recording*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report **112**; plant remains (C de Rouffignac)

Dinn, J L, and Hemingway, J A, 1992 Archaeology on the Blackstone to Astley Aqueduct, *Trans Worc Archaeol Soc*, Ser 3, **13**, 105-119; animal bone (D Brothwell, S Payne and J Roberts); plant remains (C de Rouffignac); dendrochronology (J Hillam and C Groves)

Evans, J C, Timby, J, Williams, D, Jackson, R, and Hurst, D, 2008 *Unlocking the past (South Worcestershire Collections)* Stage 3 report and HER enhancement. WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1591** (human bone analysis C Lythe)

Hurst, J D, *Archaeological assessment of the M42, Junctions 1-7A*, HWCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **152**, (includes C de Rouffignac, Appendix 4, Palaeoenvironmental assessment for the M42, Junctions 1-7A, 133-136)

Jackson, R A, Hurst, J D, and Pearson, E A, 1996 A Romano-British settlement at Leylandii House Farm, Norton and Lenchwick, *Trans Worcs Arch Soc*, third series, **15**, 63-72

Jackson, R, Hurst, D, and Pearson, E,A, and Ratkai, S, 1996 Archaeology on the Strensham to Worcester Aquaduct, *Trans Worcs Arch Soc*, third series, **15**, 1-62

Jackson, R, Hancocks, A, and Pearson, E, 1996 Salvage recording on the Honeybourne, Bretforton and Pebworth supply main, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report **486** 

Jackson, R and Dalwood, H, 2007 Archaeology and aggregates in Worcestershire: a resource assessment and research agenda, Historic Environment and Archaeology Service, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service and Cotswold Archaeology report 1477 (Environment syntheses and research agendas for each period – E Pearson)

Lockett, N, and Jones, L, 2002 Salvage recording and excavation along the route of the Menithwood to Eardiston Sewerage Scheme, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **915** (includes plant macrofossil remains - E Pearson)

Pearson, E, 2010 Peat potential: mapping of organic deposits of potential for aiding management of the archaeological resource in Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1797** 

# **WORCESTERSHIRE** - site specific

#### <u>Abberton</u>

Vaughan, T, 2007 Archaeological Watching Brief at Abberton Hall, Abberton Lane, Abberton, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1551** (animal bone analysis E Hancox, environmental analysis A Mann)

#### Alvechurch

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Alvechurch, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **295** (env assessment, E Pearson)

Miller, D, 2005 Programme of Archaeological Work at Mill Farm, Radford Road, Alvechurch, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1373 (summary of natural & archaeological deposits)

Mindykowski, A, and Griffin, L, 2004 *Watching Brief at St Lawrence's Church, Alvechurch,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1243** (summary of one Medieval inhumation and two 19<sup>th</sup> Century vault burials)

Rogers, T, 2006 Archaeological Evaluation on the Line of the Proposed Bordesley Bypass, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1395** (environmental analysis A Mann)

Williams, P, 2001 Archaeological Evaluation of Land Adjacent to St Lawrence's Church, Alvechurch, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **937** (geophysical survey & environmental analysis included)

#### Arley Kings

Hemingway, J, 1992 *A Roman site at Dunley Road, Arley Kings*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **91** (Environmental remains - C de Rouffignac)

# Ashton-under-Hill

Jackson, R A, 1991 Evaluation at Carrant Brook Farm, Ashton-under-Hill, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report **85** (environmental - Clare de Rouffignac)

#### Astley

Hemingway, J and Dinn, J, 1992 *A pit containing Beaker pottery at Longmore Hill Farm, Astley,* HWCC Archaeological Section internal report **86**; environmental remains (C de Rouffignac)

# **Badsey**

Vaughan, T, 2004 Archaeological Investigation at 25 High Street, Badsey WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1217** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

#### Besford

Hurst, D, and Hunt, C, 1999 *Evaluation at Besford Court, Besford*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **725** (environmental analysis included)

Pearson, E, 2002 Environmental evidence, in, Miller, D, Robson-Glyde, S, Hurst, D, and Pearson, E, and Griffin, L, *Watching brief and building recording at Besford Court, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **970** 

Mighall, T, 2002 Pollen, in Miller, D, Robson-Glyde, S, Hurst, D, and Pearson, E, and Griffin, L, *Watching brief and building recording at Besford Court* 

# **Bewdley**

Goad, J, 2004 Archaeological Watching Brief at Severn Side South, Bewdley, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1208** (E Pearson *pers comm* on animal bone)

Miller, D, 2006 Archaeological Investigations Along Severnside South, Bewdley, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1427 (dendrochronology analysis M Bridge)

Miller, D, and Darch, E, 2002 Archaeological Watching Brief at Severn Side North, Bewdley, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1110** (summary of natural and archaeological deposits)

Miller, D, and Darch, E, 2002 *Archaeological Evaluation and Watching Brief at Severn Side South, Bewdley, Worcestershire,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1115** (paragraph on environmental evidence)

Miller, D, Darch, E, and Pearson, E, 2003 *Programme of archaeological work at 27 Dog Lane, Bewdley, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1123** (incl report on Environmental evidence)

Milward, J, and Jacobs, A, 2005 Archaeological Watching Brief at Pewterer's Alley, Bewdley, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1362** (brief reference to animal bone found)

Napthan, N, and Ratkai, S, 1996 *Evaluation of Wassel Wood Golf Course, Habberley,* HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep, **426** (environmental analysis included)

#### <u>Birlingham</u>

Bretherton, J, and Pearson, E, 2000 *Evaluation at Gwen Finch Nature Reserve, Birlingham, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **893** (Includes pollen James Greig and enviro synthesis, E Pearson)

Griffin, S, Mann, A, Darch, E, and Pearson, E, 2003 *Archaeological Strip and Record and Watching Brief, Birlingham STW, Lower End, Birlingham,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1127** (environmental analysis included)

Sworn, S, and Vaughan, T, 2006 *Archaeological Evaluation at Mill Meadow, Nafford, Eckington, Worcestershire*, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1475** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

#### Birtsmorton

Hurst, D, Jones, L, and Pearson, E, 2000 *Evaluation at Birtsmorton Court, Birtsmorton, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **834** (includes macrofossil remains, E Pearson)

Miller, D, and Jones, L, 2000 *Archaeological Excavation at Birtsmorton Court, Birtsmorton*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **880** 

#### Blackstone

Dinn, J L, and Hemmingway, J A, 1992 Archaeology on the Blackstone to Astley Aquaduct, *Trans Worc Arch Soc*, 3 ser, **13**, 105-119

Hurst, D, Hunt, A, and Davenport, P 2010 Iron Age settlement at Blackstone, Worcestershire: excavations 1972, 1973 and 1977, *Internet Archaeology*, **28** (Plant macros – E Pearson, C Keepax & P Paradine; charcoal – A Clapham, animal bone – A Locker) maybe of interest as example of early systematic environmental sampling

#### Breadon

Mann, A, 2006 Evaluation at Grange Farm, Breadon, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1489** 

# **Bricklehampton**

Pearson, E, 1998 Watching Brief at Court Farm, Bricklehampton, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **654** 

# <u>Broadway</u>

Baxter, I, 2004 Mammal and bird bones, in Patrick, C, and Hurst, D, *Archaeological* survey and excavation along the Cotswold Spring Supply Trunk Main (Archive report), Worcestershire Historic Environment and Archaeology Service, internal report, **1140** 

Cook, J M, 1958 An Anglo-Saxon cemetery at Broadway Hill, Broadway, Worcestershire, *Antiq J*, **38**, 58-84; including human remains (C Wells)

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Broadway, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report **302** (includes environmental assessment by E Pearson)

Edwards, R, and Woodiwiss, S, 1990 *Evaluation at Abbot's Grange, Broadway*, HWCC County Archaeological Section internal report **40** (Environmental remains - C de Rouffignac)

Griffin, S, and Hunt, C, 1999 *Evaluation at the Rickground, Cheltenham Road, Broadway,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **785** (E Pearson *pers comm.* reference to a horse tooth)

Hurst, J D, and Pearson, E A, 1997 *Broadway Bypass: assessment and post-fieldwork proposal*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **631**; (including macrofossil remains, E Pearson, pollen James Greig)

Mann, A, 2004, Molluscs, in Patrick, C, and Hurst, D, Archaeological survey and excavation along the Cotswold Spring Supply Trunk Main (Archive report), WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1140** 

Pearson, E, 2004 Environmental remains, in Patrick, C, and Hurst, D, *Archaeological* survey and excavation along the Cotswold Spring Supply Trunck Main (Archive report), WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1140** 

Topping, J N, 1996 Salvage Recording at 108 High Street, Broadway, HWCAS internal report, **450** (environmental analysis included)

#### <u>Bromsgrove</u>

Edwards, R, Hurst, D, Deeks, A, Jackson, R, and Pearson, E, 1999 *Evaluation trenching at "The Oakhalls", Sratford Road, Bromsgrove, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **714** (includes macrofossil remains, E Pearson)

Jackson, J, Buteux, V, and Hunt, C, 1998 Evaluation at North East Worcestershire College, Bromsgrove, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **704** (summary of geology and potential for waterlogged deposits)

Vaughan, T, 2005 Archaeological Evaluation at North Bromsgrove School, Bromsgrove, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1364** (brief references to animal bone)

# Castlemorton

Goad, J, and Pearson, E, 2003 Archaeological Watching Brief at Castle Tump, Castlemorton, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1145** 

# Childswickham

Hurst, J, Patrick, C, Darch, E, Griffin, L, and Pearson, E, 2002 *Perrin's Farm, Childswickham: Assessment and Post Fieldwork Proposal,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **979** (Assessment environmental remains, E Pearson, animal bone??)

Vaughan, T, 2002 Excavation on Land off Buckland Road, Childswickham, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1006** (brief mention of animal bone)

# Churchill and Blakedown

Robson, S, and Hunt, C, 1999 *Watching Brief at St Michaels Church, Churchill*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **782** (brief description of human bone)

#### Church Lench

Griffin, S, Mann, A, and Western, G, 2002 Excavation at old Yew Hill Wood, Church Lench, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **904** 

Sworn, S, 2005 Archaeological Excavation at Main Street, Church Lench, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1328** (brief description of animal bone)

#### Cleeve Prior

Sworn, S, 2004 Watching Brief at Quarry Lane, Cleeve Prior, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1315** (brief description of animal bone)

Vaughan, T, and Jacobs, A, 2006 Archaeological Watching Brief on Land Rear of Stonecroft, Main Street, Cleeve Prior, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1452** (brief description of animal bone)

#### Clifton-on-Teme

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Clifton-upon-Teme, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report **310** (includes environmental assessment by E Pearson)

# Cotheridge

Patrick, C, 2003 Archaeological Watching Brief at St. Leonards Church, Cotheridge, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1008** (brief description of human bone)

# Crowle

Topping, J, and Hurst, D, 1998 Salvage Recording at Crowle Church Yard, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **558** (Mention of human bone)

#### **Droitwich**

Bretherton, J, Hurst, D, Baxter, I, Jones, L, and Pearson, E, 2000 *Evaluation of a multi-period site at Worcester Road, Droitwich, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **879** 

Brown, D L, 1991 Evaluation at 97 Friar Street, Droitwich, HWCM 9553, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report **69**; two skeletons recovered

Brown, D L, 1991 Evaluation at St Augustine's Church, Dodderhill, Droitwich, HWCM 606, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report **71** (human bones noted in trenches)

Buteux, V, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Droitwich, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report **312** (includes environmental assessment by E Pearson)

Cook, M, 1992 Evaluation at Kidderminster Road, Droitwich, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report **120** (includes plant remains and animal bones by C de Rouffignac)

Daffern, N, Assessment of environmental remains from a borehole survey at Droitwich Garage, St George Square, Droitwich, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1878** (includes wood identification by A Clapham and pollen analysis by N Daffern)

Goad, J, 2005 Archaeological Evaluation at Salters Shopping Centre, Droitwich, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1325** (environmental analysis, A Mann)

- Goad, J, and Darch, E, 2003 Archaeological Watching Brief at 24 Vines Lane, Droitwich, HWCC Archaeological Service internal report **1141** (brief description of animal bone)
- Goad, J, 2005 Archaeological Watching Brief at Waitrose, Saltway, Droitwich, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1303** (environmental analysis, K Head & A Mann)
- Goad, J, and Woodiwiss, S, 2005 Archaeological Excavation and Watching Brief at Whittingham House, Worcester Road, Droitwich, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1313** (animal bone analysis, I Baxter, environmental analysis, A Mann)
- Greig, J R A, 1978 Report on pollen and plant macrofossils from Old Bowling Green, unpublished
- Greig, J R A, 1991 *The plant remains in the Roman well fill from Droitwich, Bay's Meadow,* English Heritage Ancient Monuments Laboratory Rep **65/91**
- Greig, J R A, 1992 *The archaeobotany of the salt-working site of Upwich, Droitwich, Worcestershire*, English Heritage Ancient Monuments Laboratory Rep **39/92**
- Greig, J R A, and Colledge, S, 1977 Report on pollen and plant macrofossils from Friary Street, Archaeological interim report, Worcester City Museum News-sheet
- Greig, J R A, and Colledge, S, 1988 Iron Age to post-Medieval plant and mollusc remains from the Old Bowling Green site, Droitwich, Worcestershire, English Heritage Ancient Monuments Laboratory Rep **56/88**
- Griffin, S, Hurst, D, Jones, L, and Pearson, E, 1999 *Evaluation at Impney Farm, Dodderhill, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **786** (includes macrofossil remains, E Pearson, pollen, J Greig)
- Hurst, J D, 2006 Roman Droitwich: Bays Meadow Villa, Dodderhill fort, and roadside settlement at Hanbury Street. *CBA research report*, **146** (Human bone SJM Davis; Charred plant remains D de Moulins; Animal bone B Noddle; Birds D Bramwell; Environmental evidence J Greig, P J Osborne and D J Rackham)
- Miller, D, 2008 Archaeological Evaluation in Droitwich Spa Town Centre, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1648** (brief mention of animal bone)
- Miller, D, Darch, E, and Pearson, E, 2003 *Archaeological evaluation at Droitwich Boxing Club, Hampton Road, Droitwich*, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1163** (incl section on Environmental evidence)
- Mindykowski, A, Griffin, L, and Pearson, E, 2004 *Archaeological Watching Brief at 42 Worcester Road, Droitwich,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1248** (environmental analysis E Pearson)
- Napthan, M, and Pearson, E, 1994 Evaluation at the Raven Hotel, Droitwich, HWCC County Archaeological Service Internal Rep, **220**
- Napthan, M, Ratkai, S, and Pearson, E, 1997 Salvage recording at 36 Corbett Avenue, Droitwich, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **530** (incl charred plant remains)

Napthan, M, Pearson, E, and Buteux, V, 1997 *Evaluation at Worcester Road, Droitwich*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **600** 

Patrick, C, Griffin, L, Hurst, D, and Pearson, E, 2002 *Archaeological Evaluation at Whittingham House, Worcester Road, Droitwich,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1128** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Patrick, C, Griffin, L, Hurst, D, and Pearson, E, 2002 *Archaeological evaluation at Whittington House, Worcester Road, Droitwich, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1140** (incl report on environmental remains)

Robson, S, and Hurst, D, 1998 Watching Brief at St Augustine's Church, Dodderhill, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **706** (brief reference to animal bone)

Rogers, T, 2006 Archaeological Watching Brief at Salter's Shopping Centre, Droitwich, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1379** (brief reference to animal bone)

de Rouffignac, C, 1992 *The plant remains from Hanbury Hall*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **103** 

Sworn, S, 2005 Archaeological Watching Brief at Droitwich Canals, Worcestershire. *M5 Geotechincal*, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1345** (environmental analysis, K Head & A Mann)

Topping, N, Buteux, V, and Pearson, E, 1997 Salvage recording at Wolseley, Vines Lane, Droitwich, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **571** 

Vaughan, M-D, 1982 *The charred plant remains from Hanbury Street, Droitwich*, MSc thesis, Institute of Archaeology, University of London

Vaughan, T, and Darch, E, 2003 Archaeological Investigation at Droitwich Garage, St George's Square, Droitwich, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1160** (environmental analysis)

Vaughan, T, and Griffin, L, 2003 An Archaeological Investigation, 'Clover Patch', Pridzor Road, Hill End, Droitwich, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1191** (environmental analysis)

Whitworth, A, Hurst, D, Jones, L, and Pearson, E, 2001 *Evaluation at Baxenden Chemicals Ltd, Union Lane, Droitwich, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **905** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Williams, P, Hurst, D, Pearson, E, and Darch, E, 2002 *Archaeological evaluation at land off Saltway, Droitwich, Worcestershire*, Worcestershire CC, Archaeological Service internal rep, **948** 

Williams, P, Hurst, J D, Pearson, E, and Darch, E, 2002 *Archaeological evaluation for land of Chorley Road, Droitwich, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **952** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Williams, P, Hurst, D, Pearson, E, and Greig, J, 2005 *Archaeological Watching Brief and Building Recording at Impney Farm, Dodderhill,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **991** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Woodiwiss, S G, 1992 *Iron Age and Roman salt production and the Medieval town of Droitwich,* CBA Res Rep 81; including Old Bowling Green: dendrochronology, wood and worked bone and antler (A Crone); human bone (M Nellist and S Woodiwiss); animal bone (A Locker); environment (S Colledge and J R A Greig); diatoms (S Juggins); Friar Street: dendrochronology (J Hillam and R Morgan); animal bone (A Locker); worked bone (D Hurst)

Woodiwiss, S, 2006 Evaluation at Street's Garage, Droitwich, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1438** (environmental analysis K Head & A Mann)

Woodiwiss, S, 2007 Evaluation at St George's Square, Droitwich, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1570** (environmental analysis K Head & A Mann)

# Evesham

Baylis, T J S, 1954 Anglo-Saxon burial site, *Trans Worc Arch Soc*, **31**, 39-42; including skeletal remains

Cook, M J, Pearson, E and Ratkai, S, 1995 Excavation and salvage recording on the Evesham WRW, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **390** (plant remains, pollen, insect & molluscs, E Pearson, J Greig, D Smith, A Moss)

Cook, M, Dalwood, H, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1997 *Salvage recording at Brick Kiln Street, Evesham*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **654** 

Daffern, N, 2011 *Programme of archaeological works at Battle Well Pond, Battle Well Field, Greenhill, Evesham, Worcestershire*, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1868** 

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Evesham and Bengeworth, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **315** (environmental assessment, E Pearson)

Edwards, R, 1999 93-97 High Street, Evesham: Post Excavation Assessment and Updated Project Design, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **745** (environmental analysis)

Edwards, R, and Hurst, D, 2000 Excavation and building recording at 93-97 High Street, Evesham, Worcestershire: archive report, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **769** (includes plant macrofossils, E Pearson)

Fagan, L, Hurst, J D, Pearson, E, 1994 *Evaluation at 23-25 Mill Street, Evesham,* HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **235** (env report, E Pearson)

Griffin, S, Griffin, L, and Pearson, E, 2002 *Evaluation at Durcot Road, Evesham, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **992** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Hughes, J, 1990 Survey and excavation at Evesham Abbey, *Trans Worc Arch Soc*, **12**, 147-99; including animal bone (J Lovett) and human bone (C Roberts)

Hughes, J, and Robson-Glyde, S, 2009 Archaeological Evaluation and Building Appraisal at 33-38 Cowl Street, Evesham, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1698** (environmental analysis A Clapham)

Lockett, N, and Jones, L, 2002 Excavations at 13 Vine Street, Evesham, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **958** (environmental analysis)

Lockett, N, and Griffin, L, 2006 Roman and Medieval Evesham: Excavations at 13 Vine Street, *Transactions of the Worcestershire Archaeological Society* **20**, 65

Mann, A, 2008 Archaeological Excavation at Abbey Road, Evesham, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1658** (environmental analysis A Clapham, animal bone analysis S Warman)

Miller, D, 2005 Archaeological Evaluation at 31-35 Port Street, Bengeworth, Evesham, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1330 (mammal bone & mollusc analysis A Jacobs)

Miller, D, and Mann, A, 2002 Archaeological Excavation at Cheltenham Road, Evesham, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **936** (environmental analysis)

Napthan, M, 1992 Evaluation at Davies Road, Four Pools, Evesham, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **165** (includes molluscan remains by C de Rouffignac)

Napthan, M, Hurst, J D, Pearson, E, 1994 *Excavation at Cotswold House, High Street, Evesham,* HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **243** (environmental remains, E Pearson)

Napthan, M, Pearson, E, Ratkai, S, 1994 Evaluation and salvage recording at 1 Port Street, Evesham (HWCM 21661), HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, 275 (env report, E Pearson)

Napthan, M, Hancocks, A, and Pearson, E, 1996 *Evaluation at the Northwick Arms Hotel, Bengeworth, Evesham,* HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **475** 

Napthan, M, 1997 Watching Brief at 25 Cowl Street, Evesham (HWCM 25970), HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **601** 

Patrick, C, Vaughan, T, and Darch, E, 2003 *Archaeological Evaluation at Abbey Gate, Evesham,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1169** (brief summary of animal bone)

Pearson, E, 1993 Assessment of the environmental remains from an evaluation at Coopers Lane, Evesham, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **209** 

Pearson, E, 2002 Environmental remains from 31 Cowl Street, Evesham, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, 1118

Pearson, E, 2004 Specification for Assessment of the Environmental Remains from Durcot Lodge, Evesham, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1214** 

Sworn, S, 2004 Archaeological Watching Brief at Abbey Park, Evesham, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1294** (summary of human and animal bone)

Vaughan, T, 2004 Archaeological Evaluation on Land Adjacent to Hampton Cemetery, Pershore Road, Evesham, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1296** (environmental analysis K Head)

Vaughan, T, 2007 Archaeological Evaluation at 26 Cowl Street, Evesham, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1531** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Vaughan, T, and Crawford, A, 2005, *Archaeological Watching Brief at Evesham Contact Centre, Abbey Road, Evesham, Worcestershire*, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1375** (brief summary of animal bone)

Wainwright, J, 2010 Archaeological Evaluation at Land Adjacent to Bengworth First School, Evesham, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1781** (environmental analysis A Clapham)

Whitworth, A, Jones, L, and Pearson, E, 2001 *Evaluation at 13 Vine Street, Evesham, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **888** (environmental remains – E Pearson)

Whitworth, A, Jones, L, and Pearson, E, 2001 *Evaluation at Castle Street, Evesham, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal rep, **897** 

Whitworth, A, Jones, L, and Pearson, E, 2002 *Evaluation at 13 Vine Street, Evesham, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **888** (Incl plant macrofossil remains and general env remains)

Woodiwiss, S, and Hurst, D, 1998 Watching Brief at Evesham Abbey, Evesham, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **619** (E Pearson pers comm. brief mention of animal bone)

### Elmley Castle

Robson-Glyde, S, and Miller, D, 2005 Field Evaluation and Building Recording at The Old Mill Inn, Elmley Castle, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1317** (brief reference to animal bone)

#### Fairfield/Frankley

Hurst, J D and Pearson, E, 1995 Salvage recording on the Fairfield to Frankley Green gas pipeline, Worcestershire, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, 396

Hurst, J D, and Pearson, E A, 1996 An Iron Age site at Madeley Heath, Belbroughton and other site on the Fairfield to Frankley Green pipeline, *Trans Worcs Arch Soc*, third series, **15**, 127-134

Robson, S, 2000 Watching Brief at St Leonard's Church, Frankley, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **805** (human bone present)

### Feckenham

Pearson, E, and Jones, L, 2001 Watching Brief at Brook House, Feckenham, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **928** (includes macorfossil remains)

## <u>Fladbury</u>

Phear, S, 2007 An Archaeological Evaluation on Land off Evesham Road, Fladbury, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1496** (environmental analysis A Mann)

Tomlinson, M E, 1947 The Lower Moor (Fladbury) mammoth and its environment, *Trans Worc Arch Soc*, **24**, 55-9

Whitehead, P F, 1979 Wild bovidae from the Evesham area with notes on the status of giant oxen (Bos primigenius Bojanus) in Britain, *Vale of Evesham Hist Soc Res Papers*, **7**, 1-8; includes mollusca, bones and sedimentology

## Flyford Flavell

Fagan, L, and Hurst, D, 1995 Salvage Recording on the Flyford Flavell WRW, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **202** (paragraph on environmental process)

## Hagley

Napthan, M, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1997 *Evaluation at Stourbridge Road, Hagley*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **529** 

## Hallow

Napthan, M, Hurst, J D, and Pearson, E, 1997 *Evaluation at Old Church Lane, Hallow*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **553** 

Miller, D, Griffin, L and Pearson, E, 2004 *Archaeological investigations at Church Lane, Hallow, Worcestershire*, Worcestershire Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1174** (incl section on plant and animal remains)

# **Hampton Lovett**

Miller, D, Griffin, L, and Pearson, E, 2004 Final Report of Archaeological Investigations at Stonebridge Cross, Westwood, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **797** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Miller, D, Griffin, L, and Pearson, E, 2004 Excavations at Stonebridge Cross, Westwood, Worcestershire; An Iron Age and Romano-British Settlement, TWAS Third Series, Vol 19

Napthan, M, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1997 *Evaluation of the proposed Hampton Lovett Industrial Estate*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **546** (incl animal bone, and charred plant remains)

## **Hanbury**

Cook, M, Hurst, D, and Pearson, E, 1998 *Evaluation of Land at St Mary's Church, Hanbury,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **678** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Patrick, C, 2000 *The Coach House Astwood Lane, Hanbury, Worcestershire- An Archaeological Watching Brief, Birmingham University Field Archaeology Unit, PN 744* (mention of animal bone with 16<sup>th</sup> century pottery)

## **Hanley Castle**

Hurst, D, 2009 Excavation at Brickwalls Farmhouse, Hanley Swan, Worcestershire, WHEAS (environmental??)

Miller, D, and Crawford, A, 2007 *Archaeological Investigations at Albion Cottages, Hanley Swan, Worcestershire*, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1543** (brief reference to animal bone)

Pearson, E, and Griffin, L, 2001 *Watching Brief at Brickwalls Farm, Hanley Castle, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **944** (includes plant macrofossil remains – E Pearson)

Vaughan, T, and Hurst, J D, 2002 *Archaeological Evaluation at Hanley Mead, Hanley Castle, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **974** (brief reference to animal bone with *pers comm.* from A Mann and E Pearson)

Wainwright, J, and Vaughan, T, 2008 Archaeological Investigations at The Willows, Roberts End Street, Hanley Swan, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1627** (brief reference to animal bone)

## Hawford

Topping, J, Buteux, V, and Pearson, E, 1995 Salvage recording at Shire Farm, Hawford (HWCM 23023), HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **407** 

### Hindlip

Hancocks, A, Pearson, E, and Hunt, C, 1996 Salvage recording at the Police Museum, Hindlip, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report **493** (incl animal bone and charred plant)

Litherland, S, 2007 Archaeological Evaluation at Worcester Rugby Club, Six Ways, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1554** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Wainwright, J, 2010 Archaeological Investigations at West Mercia Police HQ, Hindlip, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1755 (environmental analysis A Clapham, animal bone analysis E Beales)

### Himbleton

Cook, M, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1997 *Evaluation and Building Recording at Shell Cottage, Shell, Himbleton,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **532** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

# Holt/Grimley

Deeks, A, 2004 evaluation at Top Barn Farm, Holt, Worcestershire historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report 1199; incl 'Environmental analysis, (E Pearson)

Edwards, R E, 1991 Salvage recording at Church Farm Quarry, Holt, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **75**; environmental remains (C de Rouffignac)

Jackson, R A, 1991 Salvage recording at Retreat Farm, Grimley, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report **82**; plant remains (C de Rouffignac)

Lockett, N, and Jones, L, 2001 *Watching Brief at Grimley Sewage Treatment Works*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **870** (brief reference to animal bone)

Miller, D, and Griffin, L, 2002 *Archaeological Evaluation at Holt Heath, Worcestershire,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **966** (brief reference to animal bone)

Webster, J, 2013 Archaeological investigations at Church Farm West, Ball Mill Quarry, Grimley, Worcestershire, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1906** (Environmental Analysis – A Clapham, charred plant remains and Animal bone – I Baxter)

## <u>Inkberrow</u>

Goad, J, 2005 Archaeological Watching Brief at Cookhill Priory, Cookhill, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1138 (environmental analysis)

Hurst, J D, and Pearson, E, 1999 *Archaeological assessment of two ponds at Inkberrow, Millennium Green, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **779** (includes plant macrofossils by E Pearson, pollen by James Greig)

Sworn, S, 2004 Archaeological Watching Brief at Step Hill, Morton Underhill, Near Redditch, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1286** (brief reference to a horse tooth)

## Kemerton

Dinn, J, and Evans, J, 1990 Aston Mill Farm, Kemerton: excavation of a ring ditch, middle Iron Age enclosures and a grubenhaus, *Trans Worc Archaeol Soc,* ser 3, **12**, 5-66; includes human bone (S Mays); animal bone (J Lovett), carbonised seeds (J Ede), material from the vessel contents 480 and the pit fill 1079 (C de Rouffignac)

Fagan, L, Hurst, J D, and Pearson, E, 1994 *Evaluation at Kemerton WRW*, Kemerton, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **225** 

Jackson, R, and Napthan, M, 1998 Interim report on salvage recording of a Neolithic/Beaker and Bronze Age settlement and landscape at Huntsman's Quarry, Kemerton, 1994-6, *Trans Worcestershire Archaeol Soc*, 3<sup>rd</sup> Ser, **16**, 57-68 (The Environment, E Pearson)

Jackson, R, 2005 Huntsman's Quarry, Kemerton, Worcestershire: Late Bronze Age Settlement & Landscape, Worcester Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1302** (environmental analysis, E Pearson)

Napthan, M, Jackson, R, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1997 Salvage recording at Huntsmans Quarry, Kemerton 1994-6: post-excavation assessment and updated project design, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **449** 

## Kempsey

Goad, J, Pearson, E, and Darch, E, 2003 *Archaeological Watching Brief at Old Road South, Kempsey,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1116** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Daffern, N, and Webster, J, 2013 Archaeological assessment of Plot 21, South Worcester, Norton Juxta Kempsey, Worcestershire, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, 1972 (geoarchaeology – Nick Watson)

### Kidderminster

Hurst, J D, Pearson, E A, and Ratkai, S, 1997 *Evaluation of land at Mill Street, Kidderminster*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **545** (incl animal bone, plant remains & pollen)

Jackson, R, Bevan, L, Hurst, D, and de Rouffignac, C, 1994, Salvage Recording of a Romano-British Enclosure at Hoarstone Farm, Kidderminster Foreign, HWCAS internal report, **198** (environmental analysis C de Rouffignac)

Jackson, R, Bevan, L, Hurst, D, and de Rouffignac, C, 1994 Salvage Recording of a Mesolithic Site at Lightmarsh Farm, Kidderminster Foreign, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **199** (environmental analysis C de Rouffignac)

Phear, S, 2007 Archaeological Evaluation at Church Street, Kidderminster, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1547** (paragraph on environmental process and brief reference to animal bone)

Robson-Glyde, S, Vaughan, T, and Crawford, A, 2004 *Field and Historic Building Evaluation at Horsefair, Kidderminster,* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1226** (brief reference to animal bone)

Williams, P, 2003 *Kidderminster Flood Alleviation Scheme*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **989** (paragraph on environmental analysis)

### Kings Norton

Vaughan, T, Darch, E, and Pearson, E, 2002 *Archaeological Evaluation at Proposed New Cemetery Site, Longdales Road, Birmingham,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **960 & 1003** (paragraph on environmental policy and analysis)

## Longbridge

Dalwood, H, Head, K, Mann, A, and Woodiwiss, S, 2007 Longbridge before Austin. Archaeological investigations at Longbridge, Kings Norton, Birmingham, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1563** (pollen analysis K Head, plant macrofossil analysis A Mann)

Griffin, S, Head, K, and Hurst, D, 2004 Archaeological evaluation (stage 2) and excavation at the former MG Rover North Works, Longbridge, Birmingham, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1293** (environmental analysis K Head)

Lockett, N, and Pearson, E, 2001 *Archaeological assessment at Moat House, Longbridge, Birmingham,* WCC Archaeology Service internal report, **889** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Mann, A, Patrick, C, Hurst, D, 2006 Archaeological investigations at the former Longbridge North Works Car Park, Longbridge, Birmingham, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1445** (environmental analysis K Head)

Patrick, C, Griffin, L, and Pearson, E, 2003 Archaeological evaluation at the former MG Rover North Works and North Works car park, Longbridge, Birmingham, WCC Archaeology Service internal report, **1194** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

## <u>Malvern</u>

Dalwood, H, 1992 Interim report on an excavation (phase 1) at North End Farm, Madresfield, HWCC Archaeological Service internal report, **121**, (includes animal bones and plant remains by C de Rouffignac)

Fagan, L, 1993 Salvage recording at Chase High School, Malvern, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **171** 

Griffin, S, and Jones, L, 1999 *Evaluation at Land to Rear of 10-12 Priory Road, Great Malvern,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **801** (brief reference to animal bone)

Griffin, S, Jackson, R, Jones, L, and Pearson, E, 2000 *Evaluation of land at DERA, Malvern, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **859** (plant macrofossils – E Pearson)

Hurst, D, and Rigby, S, 1998 *Evaluation at Land off Back Lane, Great Malvern,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **690** (paragraph on environmental process)

Jackson, R A, 1991 *Evaluation at North End Farm, Madresfield*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **89** (environmental material - C de Rouffignac)

Miller, D, and Jones, L, 2000 *Archaeological Evaluation and Watching Brief at Chase High School, Malvern*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **868** (paragraph on environmental process)

Napthan, M, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1996 *Evaluation of the former Abbey Garage, Abbey Road, Malvern, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal rep,* **453** (env rep, E Pearson)

Pearson, E, and Baxter, I, 2003 Environmental analysis, in T Vaughan, *Archaeological work at Warwick House, Wells Road, Malvern, Worcestershire*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **1111**, 8012

Rogers, T, 2006 Archaeological Excavation at DRA North Site, Malvern, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1435 (brief reference to environmental sampling and animal bone found)

Vaughan, T, 2002 Archaeological Watching Brief on Land at QinetiQ (Ex DERA South Site), Malvern, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **924** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Vaughan, T, and Crawford, A, 2004 Archaeological Watching Brief on Land Adjacent to Moat Court, Sherrard's Green, Great Malvern, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1290** (brief reference to animal bone)

## Mamble

Robson, S, and Rigby, S, 1999 *Watching Brief at St John the Baptist Church, Mamble, HWCC* County Archaeological Service internal report, **731** (brief reference to human and animal bone)

### Martin Hussingtree

Russell, O, 2010 Watching Brief at St Michael's and All Angels' Church, Martin Hussingtree, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report

#### Norton

Daffern, N, 2013 Archaeological borehole assessment at the proposed Worcester Parkway Station, Norton, Worcestershire, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **2058** (geoarchaeology)

## Norton-juxta-Kempsey

Jackson, R A, Hurst, J D, and Pearson, E, 1995 Salvage recording of a Romano-British settlement near Crookbarrow Hill, Norton-juxta-Kempsey: Archive report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **398** (charred plant remains, E Pearson)

Mora-Ottomani, A, 2006 Archaeological Evaluation in 2006 at St James the Great Church, Norton-juxta-Kempsey, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1494** (brief reference to human and animal bone)

### Norton and Lenchwick

Jackson, R, Hancocks, A, and Pearson, E, 1998 A Romano-British Enclosure and Other Finds on the Norton to South Littleton Main, *Worcestershire Archaeological Society*, **16**: **37-47** 

Jackson, R A, Hurst, J D, Pearson, E, 1994 Salvage recording at Leylandii House Farm, Norton and Lenchwick (HWCM 2848), HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **271** (Charred plant remains, E Pearson)

Jackson, R A, Hurst, J D, and Pearson, E A, 1996 A Romano-British settlement at Leylandii House Farm, Norton and Lenchwick, *Trans Worcs Arch Soc*, third series, **15**, 63-72

## <u>Offenham</u>

Dalwood, H, and Ratkai, S, 1998 Salvage recording at Bennett's Hill Anglo-Saxon cemetery, Offenham, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **539** 

#### Ombersley

Vaughan, T, and Williams, P, 2001 Watching Brief at Cresswells, Main Road, Ombersley, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **943** (brief reference to animal bone)

## Pershore

Bond, C J, and Hunt, A M, 1977 Recent archaeological work in Pershore, *Vale of Evesham Hist Soc Res Papers*, **6**, 1-76; includes Central Garage site: human remains (C J Bond and J M Wilson), animal bone (P F Whitehead), and Newlands site: animal bone (C A Schwartz)

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Pershore, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **335** (includes environmental assessment, E Pearson)

Goad, J, 2005 Archaeological Evaluation at 67 Newlands, Pershore, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1332** (paragraph on environmental policy and brief reference to animal bone)

Goad, J, and Darch, E, 2003 Archaeological Watching Brief at Path Adjoining Pershore Abbey, Pershore, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **984** (brief description and analysis of human bone)

Head, K, 2005 Environmental evidence, in T Vaughan, *Archaeological recording on land off Evesham Road, Upper Moor, Pershore, Worcestershire*, Archive report, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1309** 

Hughes, J, and Vaughan, T, 2009 Archaeological Investigations at Pershore Cemetery, Defford Road, Pershore, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **3168** (Environmental analysis by A Clapham – charred plant remains)

Mann, A, 2005 Environmental Remains from 34 High Street, Pershore, Worcestershire, Worcestershire Historic environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1318** (Plant remains)

Mann, A, 2013 Archaeological excavation and watching brief at Three Springs Road, Pershore, Worcestershire, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **2002** (Environmental report – A Clapham, charred plant remains)

Milward, J, 2006 *Archaeological Excavation at 67 Newlands, Pershore* WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1394** (description and brief analysis of animal bone)

Napthan, M, Hurst, J D, Pearson, E, 1994 *Evaluation to the rear of 25 High Street, Pershore,* HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **229** (includes environmental remains)

Napthan, M, Pearson, E, Ratkai, S, 1995, Evaluation of Pershore Abbey carpark, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **395** 

Napthan, M, Ratkai, S, and Pearson, E, 1996 *Evaluation of the former GMS Depot, Defford Road, Pershore*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **495** (incl animal bone)

Napthan, M, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1997 *Evaluation at the west end of Pershore Abbey, Pershore*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **616** 

Pearson, E, 1994 Salvage recording at Pershore Youth House, Pershore (HWCM 29690), HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **284** (discussion river sediments)

Pearson, E, and Buteux, V, 1999 *Watching Brief at the Paddock, Ferry Lane, Uckinghall, HWCC* County Archaeological Service internal report, **716** (brief reference to animal bone)

Sworn, S, 2005 Archaeological Watching Brief at Pershore Abbey, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1348** (brief reference to human bone)

Vaughan, T, 2006 Archaeological Watching Brief at Pershore Abbey, Holy Cross, Pershore, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1439** (description of human bone)

Vaughan, T, Jackson, R, Baxter, I, Darch, E, Griffin, L, and Pearson, E, 2003 Archaeological Recording on Land off Evesham Road, Upper Moor, Pershore, Worcestershire: Assessment and Post Excavation Proposal, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1139** (human remains analysis G Western)

Vince, A G, and Whitehead, P F, 1979 An abandoned Flandrian river channel at Pershore: stratigraphy, pottery and biota, *Vale of Evesham Hist Soc Res Papers*, **8**, 8-24; including reports on molluscs, insects, bones and sedimentology

Wainwright, J, 2001 St Andrew's Parish Centre, Pershore, Worcestershire- A Short Report on a Skeleton Uncovered During Drainage Works, *Marches Archaeology*, **197** 

Wainwright, J, 2010 Archaeological Evaluation at Three Springs Road, Pershore, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1744** (environmental analysis A Clapham)

Wainwright, J, and Stone, R, 2003 34 High Street, Pershore, Worcestershire-Assessment Report on the Excavation and Watching Brief with a Project Proposal for Analysis and Publication. *Marches Archaeology* **262** 

Woodiwiss, S, and Jones, L, 2001 *Watching Brief at the Former GMS Depot, Defford Lane, Pershore,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **811** (brief reference to animal bone)

### **Powick**

Cook, M, and Edwards, R, 2000 Watching Brief at Powick Weir, Powick & Lower Wick, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **776** (brief reference to wooden timbers)

Milward, J, 2005 Archaeological Evaluation at Manor Farm, Powick, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1374** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Daffern, N, 2012 Auger Survey at Coach House, Kings End Road, Powick, Worcester, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report **1959** 

## Redditch

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Redditch, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **338** (includes environmental assessment by E Pearson)

Head, K, 2006 Archaeological Auger Survey of Moons Moat, Redditch, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1470** (Pollen analysis by K Head)

Hurst, J D, and Pearson, E A, 1997 *Evaluation of the South-east Quadrant, Redditch*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **535** (incl animal bone, charred & mineralised plant remains, fish bone & scale)

Jackson, R A, 1992b *Evaluation at St Peter's Church, Ipsley*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report 110; environmental remains (C de Rouffignac)

Mann, A, 2012 Archaeological excavation at lands east of Brockhill Lane, Redditch, Worcestershire, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1934** (Human bone – Gaynor Western, Animal bone – Tania Kausmally, Plant remains – Alan Clapham)

Miller, D, 2011 Archaeological evaluation of land east of Brockhill Lane, Redditch, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1850** (environmental analysis Alan Clapham)

## Ripple

Barber, A, and Watts, M, 2006 Excavations at Saxon's Lode, Ripple, 2001-2: Romano-British and Anglo-Saxon Rural Settlement in the Severn Valley, *Cotswold Archaeology, CA Report*, **06023** (Charred plant remains, E Pearson \* Rich charred plant remains from grain storage pits)

Miller, D, Pearson, E, Head, K, and Crawford, A, 2004 *Archaeological Evaluation* (Stage 3) at Ripple, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1231** (environmental analysis E Pearson & K Head)

Pearson, E, 2004 Land at Saxons Lode Farm, Ryall Quarry, Ripple, Worcestershire: Assessment of Environmental remains, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1213** (Charred plant remains)

Pearson, E, 2005 Charred plant remains from Saxons Lode Farm, Ryall Quarry, Ripple, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1295** 

Pearson, E, 2008 The charred plant remains, in A Barber and M Watts, Excavations at Saxon's Lode Farm, Ripple, 2001-2: Iron Age, Romano-British and Anglo-Saxon Brural settlement in the Severn Valley, *Trans Worc Arch Soc*, 3 Ser, **21**, 63-8

Robson, S, 2000 Watching Brief and Building Recording at St Mary's Church, Ripple, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **791** (brief reference to human bone)

## Sedgeberrow

Buteux, V, Hunt, C, and Glyde, M, 1999 Salvage Recording at Trebor, Main Street, Sedgeberrow, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **730** (brief reference to animal bone)

Mann, A, 2008 Archaeological Watching Brief at 82 Main Street, Sedgeberrow, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1618** (animal bone analysis I Baxter)

Miller, D, 2006 Archaeological Watching Brief on the Sedgeberrow Flood Alleviation Scheme, Sedgeberrow, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1419** 

## Selly Oak

Goad, J, Head, K, and Crawford, A, 2004 *Archaeological excavation at Bourn Brook, Selly Oak, Birmingham,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1253** (environmental analysis K Head)

Patrick, C, Pearson, E, Robson-Glyde, S, and Woodiwiss, S, 2001 *Evaluation at Selly Oak, Birmingham,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **933** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Vaughan, T, 2010, Archaeology and built heritage/Assessment of Likely Significant Environmental Effects, WCC Archaeological Service internal report (EIA report), **1870** 

## Severn Stoke

Jackson, R, and Hurst, D, 1997 Evaluation at the Former County Primary School, Severn Stoke, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **565** (brief reference to animal bone)

Vaughan, T, 2005 Archaeological Evaluation in 2005 at Clifton Quarry, Severn Stoke, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1369 (environmental analysis K Head & E Pearson)

Mann, A, and Jackson, R, 2009 Archaeological watching brief and contingency excavation at Clifton Quarry, Severn Stoke, Worcestershire DRAFT, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, 1612 (Pollen analysis N Daffern; plant macros – A Clapham; Charcoal – A Clapham, Entomological results – S R Davis, S Wynne and A G Brown) \*V rich late Neolithic charred grain and crab apple pit assemblage. To go into PPS

Mann, A, Clapham, A Griffin, L 2011 Excavation and salvage recording at Clifton Quarry, Severn Stoke, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1779** (Charred plant remains – A Clapham; Charcoal – A Clapham; Insect – P Buckland)

### Shrawley

Woodiwiss, S, and Pearson, E, 1999 *Evaluation of Land Adjacent to Oliver's Mound, Court Farm, Shrawley,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **636** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

## Spetchley

Miller, D, and Jones, L, 2000 Watching Brief at All Saint's Church, Spetchley, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **866** (brief reference to human bone)

## Strensham

Darlington, J, de Rouffignac, C, and Woodiwiss, S, 1991 *Mammoth remains from Upper Strensham: initial statement*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **62** 

Jackson, R A, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1995 Salvage excavation of Romano-British and Medieval deposits west of the church of St Phillip and St James, Strensham, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **384** (plant remains, E Pearson; animal & human bone, S Pinter-Bellows)

Jackson, R, Hurst, D, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, `1996 Archaeology on the Strensham to Worcester Aquaduct, *Trans Worcestershire Archaeol Soc*, 3<sup>rd</sup> Ser, **15**, 49-50, 53

De Rouffignac, C, Bowen, D Q, Coope, G R, Keen, D H, Lister, A M, Maddy, D, Robinson, J E, Sykes, G A, and Walker, M J C, 1995 Late Middle Pleistocene interglacial deposits at Upper Strensham, Worcestershire, England, *J Quaternary Science*, **10**, 15-31

Vaughan, T, 2002 Watching Brief on Land off Baughton Lane, Lower Strensham, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **997** (E Pearson; pers comm. on animal bone)

## Stourport

Bretherton, J, and Jones, L, 2000 *Evaluation at Land off Lodge Road, Stourport, Worcestershire*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **807** (brief reference to animal bone)

Osborne, P J, 1996 An insect fauna of Roman date from Stourport, Worcestershire, UK, and its environmental implications, *Circaea*, **12** (2) (1996 for 1995), 183-189

### **Tenbury Wells**

Dalwood, H, 1995 Archaeological assessment of Tenbury Wells, Hereford and Worcester: interim report, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **348** (includes environmental assessment by E Pearson)

Fagan, L, Hurst, J D, Pearson, E, 1994 *Evaluation at the Vaults, Tenbury Wells*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **230** (environmental remains, E Pearson)

Miller, D, and Williams, D, 2007 Archaeological Watching Brief at The Library, 24 Teme Street, Tenbury Wells, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1562** (brief reference to animal bone & charcoal)

## Throckmorton

Goad, J, Darch, E, and Mann, A, 2002 Archaeological watching brief on the Severn Trent sewerage works at Throckmorton, Worcestershire, Worcestershire County Council, Archaeological Service internal report, **996**, (incl report on environmental remains)

Griffin, S, Griffin, L and Jackson, R, 2005 Salvage recording and evaluation at Throckmorton Airfield, Throckmorton, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and

Archaeology Service internal report, **917**, 'The environmental remains' by K Head and A Mann, pp 38-47

Miller, D, 2005 Archaeological Evaluation Behind Bishampton and Throckmorton Parish Room, Throckmorton, Worcestershire WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1337** (animal bone quantified)

## **Upper Arley**

Wainwright, J, 2005 Report on an Archaeological Watching Brief and Building Recording at St Peters Church, Upper Arley, *Marches Archaeology, Series 402* 

## Upton-upon-Severn

Goad, J, Vaughan, T, Darch, E, and Pearson, E, 2002 *Archaeological Watching Brief at the Baptist Church, Old Street, Upton-Upon-Severn, Worcestershire,* WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **980** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

Sworn, S, 2006 Archaeological Evaluation at Ham Court, Upton-on-Severn, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1473** (brief reference to charcoal and animal bone)

# **Upton Snodsbury**

Vaughan, T, 2002 Archaeological Watching Brief on Land Adjacent to 'The Old House', Church Lane, Upton Snodsbury WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1122** (brief reference to animal bone)

#### Westwood

Miller, D, Dalwood, H, Jones, L, and Pearson, E, 2001 *Excavation and Other Fieldwork at Stonebridge Cross Industrial Estate: Post-Fieldwork Assessment and Updated Project Design*, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **814** (environmental analysis E Pearson)

### Whittington

Vaughan, T, 2002 Archaeological Watching Brief of Whittington Village Drains, Worcestershire, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **977** (brief reference to charcoal and animal bone)

## Wichenford

Bryant, V, 2004 Fieldwalking to the South Buryendtown Farm, Wichenford WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1246** (brief reference to animal bone)

Head, K, 2006 Pollen Remains from Peghouse Farm, Wichenford, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1487** 

Head, K, 2006 Pollen Remains from Laughern Meadow, Wichenford, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1488** 

## Worcester

Baxter, I, 2002 Mammal and bird bones, in Edwards, R, Griffin, L, and Dalwood, H, Excavations on the site of the New Police Station, Castle Street, Worcester, *Trans Worc Arch Soc*, 3<sup>rd</sup> Ser, **18**, 114-117

Baxter, I, 2002b Mammal, bird and fish bone, in E Pearson, 2002 *Environmental remains from a watching brief at Kings Castle Court, Worcester*, Worcestershire County Council, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1135** 

Baxter, I 2003 Mammal, fish and bird bone, in E Pearson (ibid, Worcester section, 5-6)

Baxter, I, 2010 The animal bone, S Sworn, *The Butts: Archaeological assessment and updated project design*, Worcestershire Historic Environment and Archaeology Service unpublished report

Bretherton, J, and Pearson, E, 1998 *Watching brief at 3-5 The Butts, Worcester*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **629** (includes plant macrofossil remains by E Pearson – cultivars, evidence of craft and industry from city ditch, Civil war date etc)

Brown, D L, 1989 Reindeer Coaching Inn, Worcester, manuscript report; mummified cats

Brown, D L, and Wichbold, D, 1991 *Evaluation and salvage recording at King's School, (St Albans), Worcester*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **41**; including human bone report (C Osborne)

Brown, D L, 1991 Salvage recording at St Oswald's Almshouses, Worcester, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **83**; human bones noted in trenches

Daffern, N, 2010 Pollen analysis, in S Sworn, *The Butts: Archaeological assessment and updated project design*, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1692** 

Daffern, N, 2013 Borehole survey and analysis of environmental remains from Worcester Arena, Hylton Road, Worcester, Worcestershire, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1962** (geoarchaeology – Keith Wilkinson; plant macrofossils, pollen and wood identification – Nicholas Daffern and Alan Clapham)

Dalwood, C H, 1992 The use of soil micromorphology for investigating site formation processes, CLAU conference paper

Dalwood, C H, Buteux, V A, Jackson, R A, 1992 Interim report on excavations at Deansway, Worcester 1988-1989, *Trans Worcs Archaeol Soc,* third series, **13**, 121-129

Dalwood, C H, and Buteux, V, 1992 Excavation at Farrier Street and other sites north of the city wall, Worcester: archive report, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **100** (including botanical remains - C de Rouffignac, animal bones - S Pinter-Bellows and worked bone - V Buteux)

Dalwood, H, Buteux, V, and Pearson, E, 1997 *Evaluation at former county education offices, Castle Street, Worcester*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **585** 

Dalwood, H, and Edwards, R, 2004 Excavation at Deansway, Worcester 1988-1989. *CBA report,* **139** (Various environmental reports)

Darlington, J, 1989 *Evaluation at Farrier Street, Worcester*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **19**; environmental remains (C de Rouffignac)

Davenport, P, and Dalwood, H, 2008 Newport Street, Worcester: excavations 2005, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service and Cotswold Archaeology internal report, **1639** (Plant remains, - E Pearson and Pollen – K Head)

Deeks, A, Darch, E, and Pearson, E, 2004 Evaluation of the cathedral roundabout (Deansway/College Street), Worcester, Worcestershire Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1179** (incl Section on environmental remains)

Edwards, R E, 1992 Trial excavation and salvage recording at St Oswald's almshouses, Worcester, *Trans Worcs Archaeol Soc*, third series, **13**, 181-193 (burials mentioned in analysis)

Griffin, S, Dalwood, H, Hurst, D, Jones, L, Jordan, D, and Pearson, E, 2000 *Evaluation of land Perdiswell Park and Ride, Droitwich Road, Worcester*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **825** (includes plant macrofossil remains, E Pearson, soils, D Jordan)

Jackson, R A, 1991 Evaluation at Little Tolladine Farm, Warndon, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **95** (includes plant remains report - C de Rouffignac)

Jackson, R A, 1991 Salvage recording at King's School (St Albans), Worcester, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **97** (environmental - C de Rouffignac)

Jackson, R A, 1992 *Evaluation at the Butts, Worcester*, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **106** (plant remains and bone report - C de Rouffignac)

Jackson, R A, 1992 Excavation and watching brief at Crown Gate, Worcester: archive report, HWCC Archaeological Section internal rep, **113**; including the plant remains and bones (C de Rouffignac)

Miller, D, Jones, L, and Pearson, E, 2000 *Evaluation at Perdiswell Coach House and gardens, Worcester*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **831** (includes macrofossil remains; E Pearson)

Miller, D, Darch, E, and Pearson, E, 2002, *Archaeological watching brief at 15/19 Fish Street, Worcester*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **964** (incl 'The environmental remains' by E Pearson – rich plant macro assemblage, possible stable waste (waterlogged) and burnt hay/fodder)

Napthan, M, and Pearson, E, 1996 *Evaluation of Warndon eastern primary distribution road*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **464** 

Napthan, M, Buteux, V, and Pearson, E, 1997 Salvage recording on the route of the Eastern Primary Distributor Road, Warndon, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **572** 

Napthan, M, Dalwood, H, Hurst, J D, Pearson, E, 1997 *Evaluation at Friar Street, Worcester*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report. **584** 

Nicholson, R A, and Scott, S A, 2001 Animal husbandry and exploitation, in H Dalwood and R Edwards (eds), Deansway, Worcester: excavations by Charles Mundy 1988-89 (draft publication report), WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **920**, 89-92

Nicholson, R A, and Scott, S A, 2004 Animal remains, in H Dalwood and R Edwards, *Excavations at Deansway, Worcester, 1988-89: Romano-British small town to late medieval city*, CBA Research Report, **139**, 506-535

Nicholson, R A, and Scott, S A, 2004 Animal husbandry and exploitation, in H Dalwood and R Edwards, *Excavations at Deansway, Worcester, 1988-89: Romano-British small town to late medieval city*, CBA Research Report, **139**, 94-96

Pearson, E, 1995 Assessment of the environmental remains from Worcester Cathedral (WCPG95), HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **377** 

Pearson, E, 1998 Environmental remains from the Dyson Perrins Museum of Worcester Porcelain, Worcester, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **682** (includes macrofossil remains by E Pearson)

Pearson, E, 2000 Environmental remains from the proposed Magistrates Courts, Worcester, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **925** 

Pearson, E, 2002, Botanical remains, in Edwards, R, Griffin, L, and Dalwood, H, Excavations on the site of the New Police Station, Worcester, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **962** 

Pearson, E, 2002a, Botanical remains, in Edwards, R, Griffin, L, and Dalwood, H, Excavations on the site of the New Police Station, Castle Street, Worcester, *Trans Worc Arch Soc*, 3rd Ser, **18**, 113-114

Pearson, E, 2002b Environmental remains from a watching brief at Kings Castle Court, Worcester, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1135** (incl contribution by Ian Baxter, see above) WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1408** (animal bone, small quantities of fish bone, charred plant remains, plant remains)

Pearson, E, 2003 Environmental remains from a watching brief at Kings Castle Court, Worcester, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **1135** 

Pearson, E, 2004 Environmental remains, in Excavation at City Arcade, High Street, Worcester, in S Griffin, R Jackson, S Atkin, J Dinn, L Griffin, P Hughes, D Hurst, E Pearson and A Vince, *Transactions of the Worcestershire Archaeological Society*, 3rd Series, **19**, 96-99

Pearson, E, 2007 Macrofossil remains, in S Sworn, *Archaeological evaluation for the new library and history centre, The Butts, Worcester* 

Davenport, P, and Dalwood, H, 2008 Newport Street, Worcester: excavations 2005, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service and Cotswold Archaeology internal report, **1639** (Pollen – Katie Head)

Pearson, E, and Warman, S, 2008, Synthesis of the environmental evidence, in P Davenport and H Dalwood, *Newport Street, Worcester: excavations 2005*, Worcestershire Historic Environment and Archaeology Service and Cotswold Archaeology unpublished report

de Rouffignac, C, 1991 Watching brief at Worcester Cycle and Footbridge, HWCC Archaeological Section internal report, **90**; waterlogged wood

de Rouffignac, C, 1992 The environmental report, in Sidbury, J Darlington and J Evans, *Trans Worc Arch Soc*, series **3**, 13

Sworn, S, Jacobs, A, Pearson, E, and Western, G, 2008 Archaeological fieldwork at Worcester College of Technology (All Saints Building), Worcester, *Trans Worc Arch Soc*, Ser 3, **21**, 261-276 (Section on environmental remains and on human bone)

Vaughan, T, Darch, E B, Pearson, E, and Woodiwiss, S, 2003 Archaeological evaluation at the Old Builder's Yard, South Street, Worcester, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, 1168

Vaughan, T, 2013 Assessment and updated project design for King's School Space, Severn Street, Worcester, Worcester Archaeology internal report, **2027** (Environmental remains – E Pearson, plant macro remains and animal bone)

Webster, J, 2012 Archaeological investigations at the Michael Baker Boathouse, The King's School, Severn Street, Worcester, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, 1841 (Pollen – N Daffern, Geoarchaeology – K Wilkinson, Animal bone – E Beales)

Whitworth, A, and Edwards, R, 2001 *Evaluation at Tallow Hill and Pheasant Street, Worcester*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **881** (Contribution on Environmental samples by E Pearson)

Williams, P, and Pearson, E, 2002 *Archaeological desk-based assessment of Chapter Meadows, Worcester*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **954**, (incl section palaeoenvironmental potential)

Woodiwiss, S, and Pearson, L, 2000 *Watching brief at Lower Wick Sewage treatment works, Bromwich Road, Worcester*, WCC Archaeological Service internal report, **735**, (includes plant macrofossil remains by E Pearson and pollen by James Greig)

## Wyre Forest

Pearson, E and Daffern, N, 2012 *Palaeoenvironmental assessment of Wyre Forest, Worcestershire for the Grow With Wyre project*, Worcestershire Archaeology internal report, **1880** (pollen and plant macrofossil remains)

## Wyre Piddle

Napthan, M, Hancocks, A, Pearson, E, and Ratkai, S, 1997 *Evaluation of the Wyre Piddle Bypass route*, HWCC County Archaeological Service internal report, **509** 

Hurst, D, 2012, Excavation at George Lane, Wyre Piddle, Worcestershire, WCC Historic Environment and Archaeology Service internal report, **1943**